East Sussex
County Council

REGULATORY COMMITTEE
COMMONS AND VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION PANEL

i

WEDNESDAY, 25 MAY 2011

10.30 AM COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, LEWES

MEMBERSHIP -  To be confirmed

AGENDA
1 Appointment of Chair
2 Disclosure of Interests

Disclosure by all Members present of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the
nature of any interest and whether the Members regard the interest as prejudicial under
the terms of the Code of Conduct.

3 Urgent items
Notification of any items which the Lead Member considers urgent and proposes to take
at the appropriate part of the agenda.

4 Application for land at Herbrand Walk, Bexhill on Sea to be registered as a town or
village green (Pages 3 - 42)
Report by the Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic Services

5 Application for land at Fern Road, St Leonards to be registered as a town or village
green (Pages 43 - 80)
Report by the Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic Services

6 Any urgent business previously notified under agenda item 4

PHILIP BAKER

Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent

LEWES BN7 1UE 17 May 2011

Contact Simon Bailey, Democratic Services Officer,
01273 481935
Email: simon.bailey@eastsussex.gov.uk

eastsussex.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee:

Date:
By:

Title:

Purpose:

Agenda ltem 4

Commons & Village Green Registration Panel
25 May 2011
Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic Services

Application for land at Herbrand Walk Beach, Cooden, Bexhill-on-Sea to be registered
as a town or village green

To supplement the information given to the Commons and Village Green Registration
Panel on 22 December 2010 by providing a detailed consideration of the wording of a
sign on the application land.

Recommendation

To accept the application, pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006, of Herbrand Walk
Beach Preservation Society to have land at Herbrand Walk Beach, Cooden, Bexhill-on-Sea
registered as a town or village green.

1. The Site

1.1. The application land (below) is roughly rectangular in shape and is located adjacent to and south
of Herbrand Walk, Cooden. The land subject to the application is bordered by Herbrand Walk
Road to the north and the high water mark line to the south. The border in the west is groyne
number 16 and in the east beach hut 38.

' - g :
| | %Q'W.ﬂ,,

"

{‘\_/'

AREOIE N2 1t

1.2. The land has three owners and a part is also unregistered. Mr R.S. Peddar owns the far western
portion under title number ESX 223763. Mrs J.M. Thompson owns the adjoining plot to the east
under title number ESX 223589. Mr S. Hall owns the land to the east of Mrs Thompson under
titte ESX 203966. This is less than half of the land subject to the application with the rest being
unregistered. Mr S. Hall has taken out a caution against first registration; the title of this
document is ESX 204930. A plan of land ownership is contained in the applicants bundle.

1.3. Members are referred fo the plan and application at appendix 1.

Pag,? 3 Page 1



1.4. A site inspection was conducted on 4 November 2010 by Chris Wilkinson. A set of photographs
of the land is available at appendix 2.

2. The Application

2.1. East Sussex County Council (“the County Council’) received the application on 14 May 2010.
The application was made pursuant to Section 15(1) of Commons Act 2006 by Mr Stephen
Atkinson-Jones (“the Applicant”), Secretary of Herbrand Walk Beach Preservation Society.

3. The Law

3.1. The Application was made pursuant to the Commons Act 2006. That Act requires each
registration authority to maintain a register of town and village greens within its area. Section 15
provides for the registration of land as a town or village green where the relevant statutory criteria
are established in relation to such land.

3.2. The Application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of Section 15 of the
2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a town or village green where:-

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes
on the land for a period of at least 20 years;

(b) they ceased to do so before the commencement of this section; and

(¢) the application is made within the period of five years beginning with the
cessation referred to in paragraph (b).

3.3. The application is subject to subsection (8) which provides that in the determination of the
relevant 20 year period, any period during which access to the land was prohibited to members
of the public by reason of any enactment must be disregarded.

3.4. Therefore, for the Application to succeed, it must be established that:-

(i) the Application Land comprises “land” within the meaning of the 2006 Act;

(i) the Land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes;

(iii) such use has been for a period of not less than 20 years;

(iv) such use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a locality or of a
neighbourhood within a locality;

(V) such use has been as of right;

The Burden and Standard of Proof

3.5. The burden of proving that the Land has become a town or village green rests with the Applicant
for registration. The standard of proof is the balance of probabilities.

3.6. Further, when considering whether or not the Applicant has discharged the evidential burden of
proving that the Land has become a town or village green, it is important to have regard to the
guidance given by Lord Bingham in R. v Sunderland City Council ex parte Beresford’ where, at
paragraph 2, he noted as follows:-

' [2004] 1 AC 889.

Page 4 Page 2



As Pill LJ. rightly pointed out in R v Suffolk County Council ex parte Steed (1996) 75
P&CR 102, 111 “it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in public
or private ownership, registered as a town green ...". It is accordingly necessary that
all ingredients of this definition should be met before land is registered, and decision
makers must consider carefully whether the land in question has been used by
inhabitants of a locality for indulgence in what are properly to be regarded as lawful
spo:z‘ts and pastimes and whether the temporal limit of 20 years’ indulgence or more is
met”.

3.7. Hence, all the elements required to establish that land has become a town or village green must
be properly and strictly proved by an applicant on a balance of probabilities.

Statutory Criteria

3.8. Caselaw has provided helpful rulings and guidance on the various elements of the statutory
criteria required to be established for land to be registered as a town or village green which | shall
refer to in turn below.

Land

3.9. Any land that is registered as a village green must be clearly defined so that it is clear what area
of land is subject to the rights that flow from village green registration.

3.10. However, it was stated by way of obiter dictum by the majority of the House of Lords in
Oxfordshire County Council v. Oxford City Councif’ that there is no requirement that a piece of
land must have any particular characteristics consistent with the concept of a village green in
order to be registered. In that case, the Trap Grounds application site did not fit the traditional
image of a village green. Part of it comprised reed beds and a significant part of the remainder
consisted of scrubland. It was thus “not idyllic” in the words of Lord Hoffmann. The majority view
given by Lord Hoffmann was that the physical characteristics of land could not in themselves
preclude it from being a village green. In justifying that view, he noted in particular that there was
no authority, either at common law or in statute, which supported the proposition that the
definition of a village green should be so restricted, and further, that any test to that effect would
be inherently uncertain and too vague.® It is also relevant to note that the Commons Act 2006
passed subsequently did not seek to further restrict the definition of a village green in that regard.

3.11. An alternative minority view was expressed by Lord Scott who noted that some new village
greens registered did appear to be stretching the concept of a village green beyond the limits
which Parliament intended. He noted the ordinary dictionary meaning of a “green” as being “a
piece of public or common grassy land” which ought to be applied in constructing section 22(1) of
the Commons Registration Act 1965, the predecessor to Section 15 of the 2006 Act, rather than
land being registered that no one would recognise as a town or village green.’

e {2003) UKHL 60 at paragraph 2

8 [2008] 2 AC 674 per Lord Hoffmann at paragraphs 37 to 39.
* Ibid at paragraph 39.

5 See paragraphs 71 to 83.

Pag§ 5 Page 3



Lawful Sports and Pastimes

3.12. It was made clear in R. v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council® that
“lawful sports and pastimes” is a composite expression and so it is sufficient for a use to be either
a lawful sport or a lawful pastime. Moreover, it includes present day sports and pastimes and the
activities can be informal in nature. Hence, it includes recreational walking, with or without dogs,
and children’s play.

3.13. However, that element does not include walking of such a character as would give rise to a
presumption of dedication as a public right of way.”

Continuity and Sufficiency of Use over 20 Year Period

3.14. The qualifying use for lawful sports and pastimes must be continuous throughout the relevant 20
year period: Hollins v. Verney”.

3.15. Further, the use has to be of such a nature and frequency as to show the landowner that a right
is being asserted and it must be more than sporadic intrusion onto the land. It must give the
landowner the appearance that rights of a continuous nature are being asserted. The
fundamental issue is to assess how the matters would have appeared to the landowner: R. (on
the application of Lewis) v. Redcar and Cleveland Borough Councif’®.

Locality or Neighbourhood within a Locality

3.16. A “locality” must be a division of the County known to the law, such as a borough, parish or
manor: MoD v Wiltshire CC'®, R. (on the application of Cheltenham Builders Limited) v. South
Gloucestershire DC'"; and R. (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire CC™*. A locality cannot
be created simply by drawing a line on a plan: Cheltenham Builders case™.

3.17. In contrast, a “neighbourhood’ need not be a recognised administrative unit. A housing estate
can be a neighbourhood: R. (McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council'* However, a
neighbourhood cannot be any area drawn on a map. Instead, it must have a sufficient degree of
cohesiveness: Cheltenham Builders case.”®

Significant Number

3.18. “Significant’ does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that the number of
people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies
that it is in general used by the local community for informal recreation, rather than occasional
use by individuals as trespassers: R. (McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council."®

®[2000] 1 AC 335 at 356F to 357E.

” See Sullivan J. in R. (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1 P & CR 573 at 598.
% (1884) 13 QBD 304.

9 [2010] UKSC 11 at paragraph 36.

'°11995] 4 All ER 931 at page 937b-e.

"1 [2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin) at paragraphs 72 to 84.
1212004] 1 P & CR 573 at paragraph 133,

'3 At paragraphs 41 to 48.

1412002] EWHC 76 (Admin).

S At paragraph 85.

'® [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin) at 77.

Page 6 Page 4



As of Right

3.19. Use of land “as of right’ is a use without force, without secrecy and without permission, namely
nec vi nec clam nec precario. It was made clear in R. v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte
Sunningwell Parish Council’” that the issue does not turn on the subjective intention, knowledge
or belief of users of the land.

3.20. "Permission” can be expressly given or be implied from the landowner’s conduct, but it cannot
be implied from the mere inaction or acts of encouragement of the landowner: R. v. Sunderfand
City Council ex parte Beresford'®.

4. Consultations and Representations

4.1. The application was advertised on site and in the Observer group newspapers on 4 June 2010.
All interested parties and Rother District Council were sent copies of the notice and application.
Copies were available to view by members of the public at County Hall, Lewes and Rother
District Council offices in Bexhill. The Local Member, Councillor Gadd was informed of the
application by way of letter dated 26 May 2010. The County Council have received
correspondence from Rother District Council who informed them of an appeal against the refusal
of a planning permission to develop this strip of land.

5. The merits of the Application

5.1. The Applicant asserts that the beach has become a village green on the basis that the land has
been used by a significant number of inhabitants of a locality or neighbourhood within a locality
for lawful sports and pastimes as of right for not less than twenty years, and that this use has
been continuous up to May 2010.

5.2. In support of the application the Applicant has produced 79 Open Spaces Society (OSS)
evidence questionnaires containing a total of 100 signatures. Further evidence disclosed was in
the form of historic photographs, land registry documents, letters and a plan of the locality of
Herbrand Walk Beach.

5.3. All documents provided by both the Applicant and Objector have been made available for
inspection in the Members Room

6. Objection from landowners

6.1. The landowner information obtained from the land registry documents was used to send each
landowner a copy of the application and evidence on 26 May 2010. The documents sent to Mr
Peddar were returned on 23 June 2010 after the post office was unable to deliver them. Mrs
Thompson did not respond. Mr Hall ("the Part-landowner”) did respond. In the Part-landowner’s
response he submitted an email from Mr Peddar which gives “full authority to Steve Hall to act on
[his] behalf in any matters of business relative to Cooden Beach.”

6.2. The Part-landowner submitted his response on 15 July 2010. He contests the appllca’uon and
submits that it does not satisfy the statutory criteria for the following reasons:

'"[2000] 1 AC 335,
'8 12004] 1 AC 889.

Pag5e 7 Page 5



a) The land has been in commercial use since February 1988 and is therefore not
enjoyed only by local residents for recreational purposes.

b) Use of the land has been with permission.

c) Preventing Mr Hall from carrying out his lawful use of the site would breach his
Human Rights (peaceful enjoyment of possessions'®).

6.3. It is noted that the Part-landowner owns a segment of the application land roughly rectangular in
shape (37.5x20metres) from the road verge to the beach slightly to the west of the centre of the
application land.

6.4. The largest portion of the beach is unregistered, with no known landowner. There is a caution
against first registration held by the Part-landowner for this piece of land. The unregistered plot
is roughly rectangular in shape between the road verge and the high water mark. The
unregistered plots dimensions are 187.5x62.5 metres. The plot widens as it nears the high water
mark; the southern boundary is 242.5 metres long.

7. Committee Recommendation — 22 December 2010

7.1. The application, along with the case officer recommendation, was put to the Commons and
Village Green Registration Panel on 22 December 2010. A copy of the report presented to the
Panel is attached at appendix 3.

7.2. The Panel accepted the majority of the case officer’s findings; the Applicant had proved the land
had been used by a significant number of local inhabitants of a locality or neighbourhood within a
locality for lawful sports and pastimes for a period of twenty years.

7.3. However, based on the information submitted to the Panel, they were unable to find that use had
been as of right.

7.4. For use to be as of right it must be shown to be ‘not by force, nor stealth, nor the licence of the
owner.”” The Panel accepted use had not been by force or by stealth but, on the evidence
before them were unable to reach a conclusion as to whether use was without permission of the
owner. Permissive use was discussed between paragraphs 5.19 and 5.27 of the initial report.

7.5. Permission can take two forms: it can be expressed or implied. Expressed permission would be
a clear act taken by the landowner to bring it to the attention of the users that their use is with
permission. Implied permission would be other acts done by the landowner which encouraged
the public to use the land.

7.6. The Panel’s reasoning for deciding that use may have been with permission was because the
Part-landowner has installed a sign stating,

Private Beach: vehicles may park here at owners risk between 0800 and 2100.
QOutside these hours vehicles will be clamped.

7.7. The Part-landowner has also removed some shingle from part of his land to accommodate those
wishing to park their cars on the beach.

19 Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on Human Rights
20 R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parfe Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 W.L.R. 160

Page 8 Page 6
6



8. Development of legal interpretation of permissive use

8.1. There have been several decisions by the courts which have elaborated on when use is found to
be with permission and not with permission. Examination of these cases will be of assistance to
illustrate if use of the Land has been with permission. The cases discussed are:

R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] UKHL 28
R v City of Sunderland ex parte Beresford (2003) UKHL 60

R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2004]
JPL 975

R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and another [2007] UKHL 28

R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council
[2008] EWHC 1813 (Admin)

R (on the applfication of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and
another [2009] EWCA Civ 3

R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and another
[2010] UKSC 11

R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust and Oxford Radcliffe
Hospitals NHS Trust) v Oxfordshire County Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Admin)

8.2. The case of Redcar is cited three times because permissive use was discussed by the High
Court, the Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court. The citations should be treated as separate
decisions of separate courts but on the same matter.

8.3. It is noted that the opinion of the High Court and the Court of Appeal in Redcar were overturned
by the Supreme Court. However, part of the opinion of Sullivan J in the High Court can be read
in line with the decision of the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court held that the land was
capable of being registered as a village green because the landowner would have known the
residents were asserting a right despite there being signs on the land and the residents showing
civility towards the landowner.

R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] UKHL 28
8.4. This case concerned a large open space in the Parish of Sunningwell, Oxfordshire. The principal
issues addressed in this case were whether use was as of right and what activities constituted

lawful sports and pastimes.

8.5. When determining if use was as of right Lord Hoffmann stated that “the actual state of mind of
the ...user is plainly irrelevant.”’

Application of Sunningwell to Herbrand Walk

8.6. Accordingly, when previously considering this application the Panel did not consider whether
each user believed they were using the land without permission (my emphasis added).

#' R v Oxfordshire County Council, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [1999] 3 W.L.R. 160

Page 9 : nege 7
7



R v City of Sunderland ex parte Beresford (2003) UKHL 60

8.7. In Beresford the landowner submitted that because they had mowed the grass and installed
benches they had given implied permission for people to use the land. The House of Lords
rejected this submission; use was as of right. It should be noted that the land in Beresford was
local authority land, at Herbrand Walk the land is part unregistered and part registered in private
ownership.

8.8. In Beresford Lord Bingham was of the opinion that use could not be with permission because;

If the land were registered as a town or village green, so enabling the public to
resort to it in exercise of a legal right and without the need for any licence, one
would expect the council to mow the grass and provide some facilities for those so
resorting, thus encouraging public use of this valuable local amenity. It is hard to
see how the self-same conduct can be treated as indicating that the public had no
legal right to use the land and did so only by virtue of the council's licence.?

8.9. Lord Scott was of the opinion that;

The positive encouragement to the public to enjoy the recreational facilities...
constituted, in particular, by the provision of the benches, seems to me not to
undermine but rather to reinforce the impression of members of the public that
their use was as of right.®

Application of Beresford to Herbrand Walk

8.10. Applying the legal principles to this application, where the Part-landowner has encouraged use
of the land by removing shingle, such positive encouragement to use the land would serve to
strengthen use being as of right.

R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2003] EWHC 203
(Admin)

8.11. This case concerned a notice expressly prohibiting entry onto the application land. The court
held that entry in contravention of a notice was not without force and therefore use was as of right.

8.12. The opinion of Sullivan J, builds on the foundation laid in Sunningwell that the user’s belief is
irrelevant.

The question following their Lordships decision in Sunningwell must not be
whether those using the land knew that their user was being objected to or had
become contentious, but how the matter would have appeared to the owner of the
land.*

2Ry C'ity of Sunderland ex parte Beresford (2003) UKHL 60 [at paragraph 7]

2 Ibid at paragraph 50

% R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin) paragraph
69

Page 10 Page 8
8



Application of Cheltenham Builders to Herbrand Walk

8.13. The Part-landowner was aware of use of his land. The Part-landowner was also aware of it
being difficult for cars near to the beach and also travellers were stopping on the beach. These two
issues prompted the sign noted at paragraph 7.6 which states;

Private Beach: vehicles may park here at owners risk between 0800 and 2100.
Outside these hours vehicles will be clamped.

8.14. The wording of this sign confirms that the Part-landowner is aware of people using the land.
However, the sign does not bring it to the attention of the user that they should not be using the
land, or that their use is with permission, just that cars should not be parked on the land outside the
stated hours.

R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and another [2007] UKHL 28

8.15. Whilst this case concerns an application to amend the Definitive Map to show a right of way
previously not recorded, the question asked of the courts was whether “the nature of the evidence
[is] sufficient to demonstrate that there was no intention to dedicate.”® If it could be shown there
was an intention to dedicate then it would be shown that the landowner had given his permission for
the public to use the route.

8.16. This case essentially held that any challenge to the public’s use of land must be obvious and
overt, according to what the user would have reasonably understood the landowner’s intention to
be: the test is objective and not subjective®.

Application of Godmanchester to Herbrand Walk

8.17. Whilst the sign in place on part of the application land states that the beach is private it does not
develop what such private use entails. The local community continued to use the beach as they
had done previously. The sign does not suggest that the public’'s use of the beach is with
permission it merely informs them that the beach is under private ownership.

8.18. Upon application of this case, the sign installed by the Part-landowner would not be sufficient to
show that use is with permission.

R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2008] EWHC 1813
(Admin)

8.19. This case was for an application to register a Village Green over land which was used as a golf
course. At the non-statutory public inquiry the users gave evidence of their use and how they
interacted with users of the golf course. All but one of the users deferred to the golfers use. There
were also notices on the land stating;

Cleveland Golf Club. Warning, it is dangerous to trespass on the golf course®

% R (on the application of Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and
another [2007] UKHL 28, at paragraph 2

“® Ibid at paragraph 32

" R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council [2008] EWHC 1813, paragraph 11

Page 11 Pace o
9 g



8.20. Sullivan J was of the opinion that a notice which told users they were trespassing did not tell
them to stop trespassing “...would not be sufficient to make it clear to them that the defendant was
not acquiescing in their recreational user of the land®.

Application of Redcar, in the High Court, to Herbrand Walk

8.21. The notice installed on the beach by the part-landowner states, “Private Beach”. The notice does
not go further to tell the user that their use is by right. Applying the opinion of Sullivan J, a user
being told they are a trespasser “does not mean that those notices told them to stop trespassing.”®®

8.22. Upon application of this decision to Herbrand Walk it would appear that the sign is not sufficient
to show that use is by right rather than as of right.

R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and another [2009]
EWCA Civ 3 '

8.23. The decision of Sullivan J was granted leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal. The Court of
Appeal affirmed the decision of Sullivan J and granted leave to appeal to the Supreme Court.

R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and another [2010]
UKSC 11

8.24. The Supreme Court held that the land in Redcar should be registered as a Village Green. Their
Lordships considered how the matter would appear to the owner of the land. If the landowner saw
people on the land they could have acted in a manner to stop use, by making them aware that use
was with permission.

Application of Redcar, in the Supreme Court, to Herbrand Walk

8.25. The applicant has submitted the signatures of 100 people who have used the land of varying
frequency for at least twenty years. Lord Walker was of the opinion that;

A reasonably alert owner of the land could not have failed to recognise that this
user was the assertion of a right and would mature into an established right unless
the owner took action to stop it.*

8.26. With regard to this application the Part-landowner was aware of use and did not take action to
stop it from maturing into an established right. Applying the opinion of Sullivan J (paragraph 8.20)
the Part-landowner did not undertake sufficient acts to let the users know their use was with
permission.

R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust and Oxford Radcliffe
Hospitals NHS Trust) v Oxfordshire County Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Admin)

8.27. As noted previously (paragraph 8.12) user by force is not confined to physical force. It includes
use which is contentious. A landowner may render use contentious by, among other things, erecting
signs or notices prohibiting use. At Herbrand Walk the part-landowner has erected a sign.

“® Ipid at paragraph 19
2% Ipid at paragraph 22
¥ R (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and another [2010] UKSC 11 paragraph 36

Page 12 Page 10
10



8.28. In the Oxfordshire case the Court were of the opinion that the fundamental question is what the
notice conveyed to the user. The Court then went on to highlight five additional points that should
be addressed when considering the details of a sign.

(1) If the user knew or ought to have known that the owner was objecting to and
contesting his use of the land, the notice is effective to render it contentious®’.

(2) Evidence of the actual response to the notice by the actual users is thus relevant
to the question of actual knowledge and may also be relevant as to the putative
knowledge of the reasonable user™:

(3) The nature and content of the notice, and its effect, must be examined in
context™;

(4) The notice should be read in a common sense and not legalistic way>*;

(5) If it is suggested that the owner should have done something more than erect the
actual notice, whether in terms of a different notice or some other act, the Court
should consider whether anything more would be proportionate to the user in
question... The aim is to let the reasonable user know that the owner objects to
and contests his user... Accordingly, if a sign does not obviously contest the user
in question or is ambiguous a relevant question will always be why the owner did
not erect a sign or signs which did®.

Application of Oxfordshire to Herbrand Walk

8.29. Each of the above five points are addressed in relation to the sign installed by the Part-
landowner. As noted at paragraph 7.6 the sign states:

Private Beach: vehicles may park here at owners risk between 0800 and 2100.
Outside these hours vehicles will be clamped.

(1) The user was not aware of the owner objecting and contesting to use of his land. The
notice informs the user that the land is private and that those who park on the land between
2100 and 0800 will be clamped. The notice does not concern those who access the land
by some other mode of fransport or access the land between 0800 and 2100.

(2) The user’'s response to the notice was to carry on using the land as they had done before.
It had no effect on their enjoyment of the land.

(3) Looking at the context in which the sign was installed the part-landowner has stated that it
was to combat the issue of travellers staying on the land. This is of no relevance to the land
being enjoyed by the public as of right.

(4) Reading the sign in a common sense way it clearly states the beach to be private. It does
not state that the Part-landowner is permitting or not permitting use. The local population
would continue to use the land knowing that the land is private but not knowing if they are
using it with permission of the Part-landowner.

R (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Trust and Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust) v Oxfordshire
3(gounty Council [2010] EWHC 530 (Admin) paragraph 22
ibid

Page 13 ——
11



(5) The Part-landowner, if he wanted to bring it to the attention of the users that use was with
permission, could have easily stated such in the sign. His failure to notify those using this
part of the beach that use was with permission suggests that the land has been enjoyed as
of right.

8.30. Upon application of these five points to Herbrand Walk and the sign installed by the Part-
landowner it appears that the sign is not sufficient to bring it to the attention of those using the
beach that their use is with permission. Accordingly, use of the land has been as of right.

9. Comment on case law

9.1. The cases cited above provide a clear and progressive development of what constitutes
permissive use. The Part-landowner has failed to demonstrate that the sign, installed on his
piece of land in Summer 2009, effectively brought attention to the local community that their use
of the beach was with permission and therefore by right.

9.2. Following the precedent of the above cases it can be stated that use of Herbrand Walk has been
as of right.

10. Considerations into the feasibility of holding a Public Inquiry

10.1. The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements)(England)
Regulations 2007 require that the Local Authority consults on the proposed Green before making
a determination. This process has been completed with an objection being received from Mr S.
Hall, a part-landowner (paragraph 6.2).

10.2. The Authority retains discretion as to whether to hold an Inquiry, and must give consideration as
to whether or not one should be held. An Inquiry would be conducted by an independent
Inspector or expert and would enable members of the public to put their view across in
adversarial proceedings. The Inspector or expert would make recommendations and it would
then be for the Authority to decide whether or not to accept any or all of those recommendations.

10.3. Those in favour or against the application have had the opportunity to submit their
representations and these have been made available to the Panel, in full, for Members to read in
the usual way. They were analysed in the initial report put before the Panel on 22 December
2010.

10.4. There have been extensive opportunities for people to make representations. The part-
landowner has maintained that if, upon consideration of the evidence the Council were not
minded to refuse the application, a public inquiry should be held.

10.5. This report was commissioned by the Town and Village Green Panel of 22 December 2010. It
is hoped that it addresses the concerns held by the Panel on that date. The Panel were
concerned that the sign installed by the Part-landowner in June 2009 may have resulted in use
becoming by right and not as of right.

10.6. The cost implications and the further delay which would be introduced into the process in
holding a public inquiry would also be considerable. Considering that the Part-landowner does
not dispute use and all of the statutory criteria have been satisfied, it is submitted that a public
inquiry would not be necessary or in the interest of the public with this Panel being able to
provide an objective and impartial view of all the evidence submitted.

Page 14 Page 12
12



10.7. The Panel is permitted to use its discretion when determining what course of action to follow; it
can accept the officer recommendation put forward, it can adjourn the matter and seek further
information, or as set out above, the Panel can request that a public inquiry be held.

11. Conclusion and Reason for the Recommendation

11.1. After being directed by the Panel on 22 December 2010 to provide additional information on
whether or not the sign on the beach constituted sufficient notice by the owner to inform users
that their use was by right it is considered that, on the balance of probabilities, the owner has not
given sufficient notice. Accordingly, local residents of Herbrand Walk have indulged in lawful
sports and past times, as of right, for a period of twenty years and they currently continue to do
so. Accordingly, section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 has been satisfied.

11.2. However, should the Panel be of the opinion that the Part-landowner has displayed sufficient
notice to show that use has been by right then it is recommended that the land excluding the
part-landowner’s is registered as a village green.

12. Recommendation
12.1. Upon consideration of this report it is suggested that the application to register Herbrand Walk

as a town or village green be accepted and the reglster of town and village greens held at the
County Council be amended accordingly.

Philip Baker Contact Officer: Chris Wilkinson
Assistant Director 01273 335744
Legal and Democratic Services

Local Member: Councillor Gadd Senior Solicitor; Joanna Hauge (Mrs)

Background Documents

Appendix 1 — Application and Plan
Appendix 2 — Photographs of site taken by Chris Wilkinson, 4 November 2010
Appendix 3 — Copy of the report presented to the Panel, 22 December 2010

Page 15 b 13
13 age



Page 16
14



FORM 44
Commons Act 2006: Section 15

Application for the registration of land as a Town or
Village Green

Official stamp of registration authority

Application number: | {3 53

Register unit No(s):

VG number allocated at registration:

(CRA to complete only if application is successful)

Applicants are advised to read the ‘Guidance Notes for the completion of an Application for the Registration of
land as a Town or Village Green’ and to note the following:

= All applicants should complete questions 1-6 and 10-11.

Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addition, complete questions 7-8.

Section 15(1) enables any person to apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in section
15(2). (3) or (4) apply.

Applicants applying for voluntary registration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete question 9.

1. Registration Authority

Note 1 To the

[nsert name of
;i%;f;ﬁf:on East Sussex County Council, Legal Services Department,

County Hall,

St. Anne's Crescent, Lewes,

Fast Sussex BN7 1UE

Page 17
15




Note 2
Ifthere is more than
one applicant, list all

names. Please usea

separate sheet if
necessary. State the
full title of the
organisation if a body
corporate or
unincorporate.

If question 3 is not
completed all
correspondence and
notices will be sent to
the first named
applicant.

Note 3

This question should
be completed if a
solicitor is instructed
for the purposes of the
application. If so all
correspondence and
notices will be sent to
the person or firm
named here.

2. Name and address of the applicant

Name;

Stephen Atkinson-Jones: Honorary Secretary.

On behalf of

Full postal address:

: Herbrand Walk Beach Preservation Society.

Hill House
2 Collington Grove
Bexhill-on-Sea

Fast Sussex

Postcode  TN39 3UB

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address:

01424 848148

aj@atkinsonjones.co.uk

3. Name and address of solicitor, if any

Name:

Firm:

Full postal address:

Post code

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address:

Page 18
16




Note 4

For further advice on
the criteria and '
qualifying dates for
registration please see
section 4 of the
Guidance Notes.

* Section 15(6)
enables any period of
statutory closure
where access to the
land is denied to be
disregarded in
determining the 20
year petiod.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your land
please tick this box and move to question 5.

Application made under section 15(8): |:|

If the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act, please tick one of
the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying
criterion applies to the case.

Section 15(2) applies: ,

Section 15(3) applies: D

Section 15(4) applies: D

If section 15(3) or (4) applies please indicate the date on which you consider
that use as of right ended. '

If section 15(6)* applies please indicate the period of statutory closure (if
any) which needs to be disregarded.

Page 19
17




Note 5

The accompanying
map must be at a
scale of at least
1:2,500 and show the
land by distinctive
colouring fo enable to
it to be clearly
identified.

* Only complete if the
land is already
registered as common
land.

Note 6

It may be possible (o
indicate the locality of
the green by reference
to an administrative
area, such as a parish
or electoral ward, or
other area sufficiently
defined by name (such
as a village or street).
[f this is not possible a
map should be
provided on which a
focality or
neighbourhood is
marked clearly.

5. Description and particulars of the area of land in respect of which
application for registration is made

Name by which usually known:

Herbrand Walk Beach.

Location:

South of and adjacent to Herbrand Walk,
Cooden,
Bexhill-on-Sea, East Sussex TN39 4TX

Shown in colour on the map which is marked and attached to the statutory
declaration: Exhibit No.l Map A.

Common land register unit number (if relevant) *

6. Locality or neighbourhood within a locality in respect of which the
application is made

Please show the locality or neighbourhood within the locality to which the
claimed green relates, either by writing the administrative area or
geographical area by name below, or by attaching a map on which the area is
clearly marked:

Cooden, Little Common and West Bexhill generally, East Sussex,
as indicated on Exhibit No.2, Map B attached.

Tick here if map attached:

Page 20
18




Note 7

Applicants should
provide a summary of
the case for
registration here and
enclose a separate full
statement and all other
evidence including any
witness statements in
support of the
application.

This information is not
needed Iif a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

7. Justification for application to register the land as a town or village
green

Cooden is a residential area located on the western boundary
of Bexhill-cn-Sea, East Sussex, some 4 kilometres from the
main town centre. Herbrand Walk is a narrow road which runs
west from Cooden towards Normans Bay and Pevensey Bay beyond.

At Cooden the road runs along the north edge of the beach,
between the west boundary of beach hut plot No.38 and

Groyne No.l6, close to an existing fishing hut of block
construction. Here the edge of the shingle foreshore directly
abuts the edge of the road, with no intervening fence or
upstand kerb. Double yellow lines are painted on both edges
of the road surface. This section of the beach is known
locally as Herbrand Walk Beach.

Although the foreshore has always been in private ownership,
the entire beach has been freely used from time immemorial

by the people of Cooden, Little Common and West Bexhill for
recreation, with no record of formal or informal permission
either being requested of or granted by the current owners.
There are residents who have lived in the area for over 80

years who confirm that they played on the beach as children
(refer witness statements attached). In view of the double

yellow lines visitors' vehicles have always been parked freely
on the edge of the beach, close to the edge of the road.

Significant numbers of local residents have enjoyed regular
as of right access to the entire beach for more than 20 years
under Section 15 (2) of the Commons Act,2006 as witnessed

by the 79 No. attached evidence questionnaires. These

confirm continuous public usage for all the usual lawful
beach recreation and leisure activities by a total of 100 No.
people over a period extending from 1922 to 2010, excepting
only the period 1939 to 1947 when the beach was fortified
during World War II.

Given such long history of as of right use, and to protect
and maintain such usage into the future, it is now considered
appropriate to submit this formal application to register
Herbrand Walk Beach as a Town Green.

Page 21
19




Note 8
Please use a separate
sheet if necessary.

Where relevant include
reference to title
numbers in the register
of title held by the
Land Registry.

If no one has been
identified in this
section you should
write ‘none”

This information is not
needed if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

Note 9

List all such
declarations that
accompany the
application. If none is
required. write “none”.

This information is not
needed if an
application is being
made to register the
land as a green under
section 15(1).

Note 10

List all supporting
documents and maps -
accompanying the
application. If none.
write “none”

Please use a separate
sheet if necessary.

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant believes to be
an owner, lessee, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
be a town or village green

Owners — Listed from West to East Addresses.
1. Ronald Sydney Peddar 481 Bexhill Road
St Leonards-cn-Sea
Land Registry Title: ESX 223763 East Sussex
2. Joy Margaret Thompson 23a Hartfield Road
Bexhill-on-Sea
Land Registry Title: ESX 223539 Fast Sussex TN39 3EA
3. Steven Hall Ceylon House
Za Collington Avenue
Land Registry Title: ESX 203566 Bexhill-on-Sea
One Title Unregistered. East Sussex TN39 3QA

9. Voluntary registration — declarations of consent from ‘relevant
leaseholder’, and of the proprietor of any ‘relevant charge’ over the land

10. Supporting documentation

1. Exhibit No.l : Map A : Herbrand Walk Beach
2. Exhibit Ne.2 : Map B : The Locality of Herbrand Walk Beach.

3. 79 No. Witness Statements submitted by 100 No. residents
who have used Herbrand Walk Beach for over 20 vyears,
generally arranged in the order of signature of the
reverse of Map A.

Page 22
20




11. Any other information relating to the application
Note 11

If there are any other
matters which should
be brought to the

Steven Hall, owner of part of the Beach, submitted two

aitention of the planning applications in 2009 and 2010 for installing
registration authority . .
(in particular if a additional beach huts and fencing to the road frontage.

person interested in

Both lications were refused by the Planni & Ltt
e applic iy er 2% e nning Commlttee of

challenge the Rother District Council on the grounds that "the beach lies
application for . ) ii
registration). Full outside of the Development Boundary of the Bexhill Local Plan.

details should be given

Local residents presented overwhelming written objections to
here or on a separate

sheet if necessary. both applications.

Note 12 = " ,

The application must Date: ‘ % . W\t‘-\,v\ Qo .
be signed by each e}

individual applicant, or
by the authorised

officer of an applicant Signatures: : -
which is a body TT/%{
corporate or _ ) |

unincorporate.

Vo SEC- .
Heehzons Wwhrd. REALK  PRESERUATIVR SO

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all associated documentation.
Applicants should be aware that signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement
of truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence. The making of a false
statement for the purposes of this application may render the maker liable to prosecution.

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be freated as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the registration authority to disclose information received from
you to others, which may inciude other local authorities, Government Departments, public bodies,
other organisations and members of the public.

Page 23
21




Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or
their solicitor, or, if the applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate,
by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the application.

FTEOMEN Wt AITORGN ~ToNes |
L., soleminly and sincerely declare as follows:—

' Insert full name
(and address if not
given in the
application form).

2 Delete and adapt 1.2 | am ((the person (ea&eé&&ﬁﬁfsaa&) who ( has) ﬁmaea signed

as necessary. the foregoing application)) (ke

BPPHEETHS)Y.

3 Insert name if
Applicable

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my
knowledge and belief fully and truly stated and | am not aware of any
other fact which should be brought to the attention of the registration
authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those =asss- mentioned in
parts 10 and 11 of the application.

3.a The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map
referred to in part 5 of the application. Map A*Exhibit No. 1.

3.b The second map also produced as part of this declaration
is the map referred to in part 6 of the application:

Map B: Exhibit No.Z.

*- Complete only in
the case of
voluntary
registration (strike
through if this is not
relevant)

ownership. | have preu]
consent:

Cont/

Page 24
22




* Continued

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the
same to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.

Declared by the said —
Stephen Richaryd A onionds

v ap (D
L RAY

iy

Signature of Declarant

at 36, Cocdpin Soa @ab
ReCill -on-$d - Ed-Rusenc

nis 1 I day of Pfdy 2010

N N N M N S S S

Before me *

“V LA UHA GABY HARDWICKE

(AN HSLAAID 56 Cooden Sea Road
' Little Common
: Bexhill on Sea

East Sussex TN3B89 4SL

Signature:

Address: 5L C)@Q(A (d (@C(ﬂa |
BeCall u—fet Fatfsses

Qualification: _—
%& afe/ -
,/ '

£

The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 25
23



Page 26
24



a__ascm_

Jajem uBiH wssyy

umrwo .,,t._.n " N \mzroua,

:.2. 392&#
W sl

A A
\.i—

~

vz N

J I Wby ) / /

u ; e
48 gHE 0 =@ BE | » - T SRS ey e psss s . Z
I i T s —— % - e e e S FLAANA |1|||IN|\
o e = P ¥ ¥ 1Y . PRV

llllllllllllllllll | e et T e m i ey T T T T T T A T T R R R AR AR A AT A AR T Lt e Anpidosl S SN ——— hm.hc? LA ASALAAA S AN

o Yy T ARGy b Llvd Sk Ak EAMAS AAS AR AN i L AR A NN RE LA N AL AL LA IARY e e A s A M A LM S AR ARAI AL AR ENS AASLAASABIIASELAREDOAN NI Nk bk b SE Kges Ak
e e a AA AANASAIAL T e AU AT A i i Skl A A LD A S DA Sl L el b

e Ak b e b M AR AAKODALLA LGRS Ty

T T e =L

7
":ﬂs&:yﬂ»ﬁ-uﬂmﬁ;

AR RAACOAALT SARI DA
SRS AOAR RO AR
S

569900mE Z

570000mE
1063comN

570300mE
106400mM
570200mE |
5701 00mE

o JOAIN
v DURUP.I

SIVOL, - IR RV MTYOR4S

) st Ml
AT ARk Y Q) 2 72 | PAD TH S L



Page 28
26



Appendix 2 — Site visit photographs

e =
(e per— - i

Looking east towards the application boundary.

Eastern boundary looking towards the shore.

Page 29
27



The double yellow lines on each side of the road and the cars parking on the
application land.

Bin on application land looking east from weétern boundary.

Page 30
28



Sign on beach.

Sign on beach.



Sign on beach and view looking west.

Close up of sign in previous photograph.

Page 32
30



APP‘"—"\ d\l X 3

Agenda item
Committee: Commons & Village Green Registration Panel
Date: 22 December 2010
By: Assistant Director, Legal and Democratic Services
Title: Application for land at Herbrand Walk Beach, Cooden, Bexhill-on-Sea to be registered

as a town or village green

Purpose: To consider the application

Recommendation

To accept the application, pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006, of Herbrand Walk
Beach Preservation Society to have land at Herbrand Walk Beach, Cooden, Bexhill-on-Sea
registered as a town or village green.

The Site

1. The application land (below) is roughly rectangular in shape and is located adjacent to and south of
Herbrand Walk, Cooden. The land subject to the application is bordered by Herbrand Walk Road to
the north and the high water mark line to the south. The border in the west is groyne number 16
and in the east beach hut 38.

2. The land has three owners and a part is also unregistered. Mr R.S. Peddar owns the far western
portion under title humber ESX 223763. Mrs J.M. Thompson owns the adjoining plot to the east
under title number ESX 223589. Mr S. Hall owns the land to the east of Mrs Thompson under title
ESX 203966. This is less than half of the land subject to the application with the rest being
unregistered. Mr S. Hall has taken out a caution against first registration; the title of this document
is ESX 204930. A plan of land ownership is contained in the applicants bundle.

3. Members are referred to the plan and application at appendix 1 and 7.

4. A site inspection was conducted on 4 November 2010 by Chris Wilkinson. A set of photographs of
the land is available at appendix 2. Page 33

31 Page 1



The Application

5. East Sussex County Council (ESCC) received the application on 14 May 2010. The application was
made pursuant to Section 15(1) of Commons Act 2006 by Mr Stephen Atkinson-Jones, Secretary of
Herbrand Walk Beach Preservation Society.

The Law

6. The law is set out in section 15 Commons Act 2006 (‘the Act). A guide to the law is attached at
appendix 3, although each element of the statutory test is addressed in this report. In short, the
applicant must prove that the land has been used by a significant number of local inhabitants of a
locality or neighbourhood within a locality for lawful sports and pastimes ‘as of right' for a period of
twenty years. The Commons (Registration of Town and Village Green){Interim
Arrangements)(England) Regulations 2007 apply to all applications made under the 2006 Act and
govern how village green applications should be processed by Local Authorities.

7. The qualifying criteria to be applied is set out in Section 15(2) of the Act which states that the land
must have been enjoyed in accordance with the statutory test detailed in paragraph 5 and the local
inhabitants must continue to enjoy use of the land at the time of the application.

Consultations and Representations

8. The application was advertised on site and in the Observer group newspapers on 4 June 2010. All
interested parties and Rother District Council were sent copies of the notice and application.
Copies were available to view by members of the public at County Hall in, Lewes and Rother
District Council offices in Bexhill. The Local Member, Councillor Gadd was informed of the
application by way of letter dated 26 May 2010. ESCC have received correspondence from Rother
District Council who informed them of an appeal against the refusal of a planning permission to
develop this strip of land.

The merits of the Application

9. The applicant asserts that the beach has become a village green on the basis that the land has
been used by a significant number of inhabitants of a locality or neighbourhood within a locality for
lawful sports and pastimes as of right for not less than twenty years, and that this use has been
continuous up to May 2010.

10. In support of the application the applicant has produced 79 Open Spaces Society (OSS) evidence
questionnaires containing a total of 100 signatures. Further evidence disclosed was in the form of
historic photographs, land registry documents, letters and a plan of the locality of Herbrand Walk
Beach.

Objection from landowners

11. The landowner information obtained from the land registry documents was used to send each
landowner a copy of the application and evidence on 26 May 2010. The documents sent to Mr
Peddar were returned on 23 June 2010 after the post office was unable to deliver them. Mrs
Thompson did not respond. In Mr Hall's response he submitted an email from Mr Peddar which
gives “full authority to Steve Hall to act on [his] behalf in any matters of business relative to Cooden
Beach.”

Page 34 Page 2
32



12.

Mr Hall submitted his response on 15 July 2010. He contests the application and submits that it
does not satisfy the statutory criteria for the following reasons:

a) The land has been in commercial use since February 1988 and is therefore not
enjoyed only by local residents for recreational purposes.

b) Use of the land has been with permission.

c) Preventing Mr Hall from carrying out his lawful use of the site would breach his
Human Rights (peaceful enjoyment of possessions').

Application of s.15(2)

Local inhabitants of any locality or neighbourhood within a locality

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19

The land must be used by the inhabitants of a locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality. A
locality’ would be for example a parish or other administrative area known to the law. According to
Lord Denning ‘so long as the locality is certain, that is enough.” A neighbourhood is a smaller area
but has been identified by case law as having ‘a sufficient degree of cohesiveness.”

At point 6 of the application the applicant is asked to identify the locality or neighbourhood to which
the land relates. The applicant identifies Cooden, Little Common and West Bexhill generally. A
plan was submitted (at appendix 4) highlighting the boundaries of this area. This area identified by
the applicant is within the boundaries of Bexhill. Upon further examination the boundaries drawn by
the applicant principally mark the boundary of the ward of St Mark’s. Two additional wards of
Kewhurst and Collington are also partially incorporated.

The user evidence questionnaires contained a question which demonstrates the cohesiveness of
the local community by asking the user to tick boxes as to what recognisable facilities are available
to the inhabitants of the locality. A list of twelve facilities are stated including school catchment
area, community centre, place of worship and shops. There is also a box inviting the user to record
any other facilities that are available.

The response of each user to this question was recorded and added to a graph (at appendix 5),
their responses were also included in a table. Of the 79 user evidence forms submitted the top
three responses were; Doctor's Surgery (78), local shops (77) and place of worship (77). Eight
other facilities were recorded by over half of the user evidence forms.

The plan at appendix 1 also records the residence of many of those who completed a user
evidence form. The plan is an Ordnance Survey map at a scale of 1:5,000. Upon inspection of this
plan two educational facilities, three places of worship, a railway station, wood and golf course are
within the locality.

Mr Hall, on the fourth page of his response, states that ‘it is not correct to say that this is an open
stretch of beach enjoyed only by local residents for recreation.” Whilst people may have come from
outside of the locality to use the claimed land and local facilities all of those who have signed a user
evidence form have also signed the back of the above plan (appendix 1) under the title: locality of
the beach. Approximately, seventy residences were recorded on this plan.

. The objector submits that it is incorrect to state the land has only been enjoyed by local residents

because it has been in commercial use since February 1988. The applicant has responded to the
contrary stating that it has never been used for commercial activities. They acknowledge the land
was bought in 1988 by McDonald Fish Selling Ltd. but, according to a letter sent to the Bexhill
Observer by McDonald, “the site [was]... surplus to that being used by my business.” The
applicant, in their response, also submits fourteen letters from residents confirming that they have
not seen any commercial activity on the foreshore.

! Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on Human Rights
2 New Windsor Corporation v Mellor [1975] 1 Ch 380
* R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire Dﬁé@@%cﬂ [2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin)

33 . Page 3



20. It is also of note that it is not necessary for the land to only be enjoyed by local residents rather it ‘is
sufficient that the land is used predominantly by inhabitants of the [locality].* The applicant has
illustrated this by producing the plans at appendix 4 (paragraph 17)

21. On the balance of probabilities it is submitted that the locality marked by the applicant of being
Cooden, Little Common and West Bexhill has the requisite qualities of fulfilling this part of the
statutory test.

Have indulged as of right

22. Once it has been established that those who have used the land are of a locality it must be asserted
that they have enjoyed the land as of right. The meaning of ‘as of right' has received legal
clarification from Lord Hoffmann, who was of the opinion that it should be construed to mean, ‘not
by force, nor stealth, nor the licence of the owner.” It has taken this meaning because it is not
reasonable for the owner to resist actions of user because;

rights should not be acquired by the use of force, in the second, because the
owner would not have known of the user and in the third, because he had
consented to the user®

23. The recent decision of the Supreme Court in Redcar’ further clarified the law with Lord Brown being
of the opinion that there is ‘no good reason to superimpose upon the conventional tripartite test® for
the registration of land as a town or village green. Accordingly, each arm of the test shall be
identified and analysed individually. For use to be as of right each part must be satisfied.

Not by force

24. With the exception of World War Two, when access to all beaches was prohibited, access has been
possible along the entire length of the northern boundary. Regardless, this is outside of the
relevant twenty year period.

25. Due to Herbrand Walk being a very narrow road, double yellow lines have been painted on both
sides to ensure the free and easy passage of traffic. The objector has encouraged people to use
this beach by making it possible for cars to park on the northern boundary of the beach by removing
some of the shingle.

Not by stealth

26. The land has not been enjoyed under secrecy with the landowner being aware of use by the public.
Mr Hall states that he has “no intention of excluding the public from this area of beach.”

Not with permission

27. The user evidence questionnaire, at question 28, specifically asks if permission was ever sought for
activities on the land. The user evidence forms consistently responded that no permission was ever
obtained.

28. The objector, under the heading “as of right” in their response, submit that permission requires
some positive act by the landowner. The objector submits that the previous owners of the land
confirmed use had been with permission although there is no documentation to substantiate this.

* R v Oxfordshire County Council and Another, Ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 A.C. 335
5 .
Ibid
© Ibid
; R (on the application of Lewis) (Appellant) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and Ancther [2010] UKSC 11
Ibid at para. 107
P Page 36

34

Page 4



29. The applicant, in their response, submits the opinion of Lord Hope in Beresford. He was of the
opinion that;

On this area of the law it would be quite wrong, in my opinion, to treat a landowner's
silent passive acquiescence in persons using his land as having the same effect as
permission communicated to those persons. To do so would be to reward inactivity.®

30. The objector does not state they have acquiesced to use rather that use has been with permission.
This permission has to be communicated to the users. The objector states that he has clearly
marked out signs that the beach is in private ownership.

31. There is a sign on the beach that states “Private Beach” (photograph available at appendix 2). The
sign also states that, ‘vehicles may park here at owners risk between 0800 to 21.00. Outside these
hours vehicles will be clamped.” The landowner states that this sign was erected around 1 June
2009 to prevent travellers from parking on the beach.

32. The objectors communication to the users that the beach is private is based upon the legal principle
initially suggested by Patteson J in 1833;

If a man opens his land, so that the public pass over it continually, the public... would
be entitled to pass over it... and if the party does not mean to dedicate it... but only to
give a licence, he should do some act to show that he gives a licence only."

33. Accordingly, the notice given by the landowner must be obvious and overt. Recently, in the rights
of way case of Godmanchester'" Lord Scott was of the opinion that overt acts should, ‘demonstrate
to the public that the landowner had no intention to dedicate.”’® A sign merely stating private would
not be an obvious and overt act by Mr Hall to demonstrate that he had no intention to dedicate.

34. The objector has removed some of the shingle to allow cars to park on part of the claimed land
(paragraph 25). This could suggest that those who have parked their cars on the land would then
be using the land under licence of the owner. However, this has not been brought to the users’
attention and is restricted to those that have used a car to access the land.

35. Upon consideration of the user evidence and the response submitted by the objector it would
appear, on the balance of probabilities that use has been as of right.

Lawful sports and pastimes on the land

36. The applicant must also demonstrate that the land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes.
According to Lord Hoffmann this, ‘is not two classes of activities but a single composite class™™ in
order to cover all lawful activities enjoyed on the land, including the taking of air. These activities
can vary depending on the time of year or *according to changing tastes or wishes [of the user]™*

37. Question 23 of the OSS user evidence questionnaires ask the user to tick boxes for all the activities
they have seen taking place on the land. There are eighteen listed activities including football, dog
walking, picnicking and children playing. There is also a box inviting any other activities witnessed.

38. The three most frequent activities withessed are dog walking (77), fishing (75) and children playing
(75). There are a further five activities that have been witnessed by over half of those who
completed questionnaires (drawing and painting, bird watching, picnics, kite flying and walking).

°R (Beresford) v City of Sunderiand [2003] UKHL 60 para. 78
48 Trustees of the British Museum v Finnis (1833) 5 C & P 460 at 465
R (Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs [2007] UKHL 28
2 Ibid at para.69
"% Ibid (n4)

4 ). Riddall, ‘Getting Greens Registered: A guide to law qma@@cgyure for town and village greens’ (2007) paragraph 43

35 Page 5



39.

40.

41.

42,

43.

There are ten activities witnessed by the users which occur on the water. The land subject to the
application borders the high water mark. Therefore, these water activities cannot be taken into
consideration when ascertaining if lawful sports and pastimes have occurred on the land.

Question 14 asks the user why they went onto the land and question 16 asks what activities you
took part in. Some respond to question 16, with “same as question 14." This question asks the
user to list activities, rather than tick boxes. This results in several different answers for the same
activities. The graph at appendix 6 attempts to match the responses of this question to that of
question 23 (see paragraph 37) where possible (for example, a response of walking with dog and
children would be dog walking, walking and children playing).

The most common response to question 16 was swimming. However, as detailed in paragraph 39,
activities that occur in the sea are outside of the application land. The next three most frequent
responses are walking (27), picnicking (21) and recreation (16).

It is noted that there are a lot less responses to question 16 then there were to question 23 with 845
responses to question 23 and 222 to question 16. Seven people also recorded blackberrying but
there are no blackberry bushes on the application land.

Despite the recorded use of activities outside of the application land on the balance of probabilities
there is sufficient evidence to illustrate that lawful sports and past times have been enjoyed on the
land. Accordingly, this element of the test has been satisfied.

For a period of at least 20 years

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49,

It is required that the user evidence illustrates that the land subject to the application has been
enjoyed for a period of at least twenty years. This period is calculated retrospectively from the date
of first challenge. In the absence of a challenge the submission of the application is sufficient to
bring use of the land into question. Therefore, initially it will be necessary to show use from 1990 —
2010. If there is any challenge to use within this period then the relevant twenty year period shall
be altered to reflect the challenge.

It is not vital for every user to have used the land for a period of twenty years rather it is
‘necessary... that all the evidence taken cumulatively shows that there has been use by the local
inhabitants for twenty years.’'®

Every user evidence form submitted records use of the land for a period of time well in excess of
twenty years with U66 stating their use back to the 1920's. Whilst a considerable amount of user
evidence states the land to be enjoyed frequently, sometimes daily (U1, U27, U28), there is no
requirement to show use occurred at such a rate, rather the land ‘must have been used and
available... when needed.®

U66 notes that her use was interrupted during World War Two. This was in accordance with the
relevant defence of the realm legislation. Section 15(6) of the Commons Act 2006 states that,

[when] determining the period of 20 years... there is to be disregarded any period
during which access to the land was prohibited. .. by reason of any enactment.””

The break in use experienced by U66 is the only one recorded by all 100 users and significantly
pre-dates the relevant 20 year period.

Upon examination of the user evidence forms it is submitted that, on the balance of probabilities,
use of the claimed land has been enjoyed for a period of at least twenty years.

'S Ipid (n14) at paragraph 51
'® Ibid (n14) paragraph 52
17 5.15(6) Commons Act 2006

Page 38 Page 6
36



Effect of Planning Application

50. Mr Hall has submitted information regarding an application to construct 28 wooden beach huts, 2
wooden toilet huts and 1 wooden lifeguard hut, including car parking, cycle parking, information
signs, waste bins, dog waste bins and sleeper walling/shingle protection. The application number is
HW/RR/10/0055.

51. The Planning Inspectorate heard an appeal to grant the planning application but this was dismissed
in December 2010. The main reason for the application being dismissed was the impact the
proposed development would have on the character and appearance of the locality.

52. Whilst it is an offence to interrupt the use and or enjoyment of a town or village green'® the planning
application did not prejudice ESCC’s investigations as they are being conducted independently of
the planning application.

Human Rights Consideration

53. Mr Hall submits that allowing the town and village green application and rejecting his planning
application would be inconsistent with his Convention Rights (incorporated into UK law by the
Human Rights Act 1998) particularly article 1 of the first protocol;

[the right to] peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No one shall be deprived of his
possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by
law and by the general principles of international law."®

Considerations into the feasibility of holding a Public Inquiry

54. The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim Arrangements)(England)
Regulations 2007 require that the Local Authority consults on the proposed Green before making a
determination. This process has been completed with an objection being received from Mr S. Hall, a
part landowner (paragraphs 11 - 12).

55. The Authority retains discretion as to whether to hold an Inquiry, and must give consideration as to
whether or not one should be held. An Inquiry would be conducted by an independent Inspector or
expert and would enable members of the public to put their view across in adversarial proceedings.
The Inspector or expert would make recommendations and it would then be for the Authority to
decide whether or not to accept any or all of those recommendations.

56. Those in favour or against the application have had the opportunity to submit their representations
and these have been made available to the Panel, in full, for Members to read in the usual way and
have been analysed in this report.

57. There have been extensive opportunities for people to make representations. The objector has
maintained that if, upon consideration of the evidence the Council were not minded to refuse the
application, a public inquiry should be held.

58. The cost implications and the further delay which would be introduced into the process in holding a
public inquiry would also be considerable. Considering that the landowner does not dispute use and
all of the statutory criteria have been satisfied, it is submitted that a public inquiry would not be
necessary or in the publics interest with this Committee being able to provide an objective and
impartial view of all the evidence submitted.

'® 5.23 Inclosure Act 1857
* Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Conventippgyerinigan Rights

37 Page 7



59. The Committee is permitted to use its discretion when determining what course of action to follow; it
can accept the officer recommendation put forward, it can adjourn the matter and seek further
information, or as set out above, the Panel can request that a public inquiry be held.

Conclusion

60. After careful consideration of all the evidence submitted to ESCC it is submitted that, on the
balance of probabilities, there is sufficient evidence to show that the local residents of Herbrand
Walk have indulged in lawful sports and past times, as of right, for a period of twenty years and they
currently continue to do so. Accordingly, section 15(2) of the Commons Act has been satisfied.

61. The objection received by ESCC does not counter the evidence to support the application. The
objector suggests use has not been as of right because use has been with permission, however,
upon analysis the landowner had not conducted an obvious and overt act sufficient to grant such
permission.

Recommendation

62. Upon consideration of this report it is suggested that the application to register Herbrand Walk as a
town or village green be accepted and the register of town and village greens held at ESCC be
amended accordingly.

Philip Baker Contact Officer: Chris Wilkinson
Assistant Director 01273 335744
Legal and Demacratic Services

Local Member: Councillor Gadd Senior Solicitor: Joanna Hauge (Mrs)

Background Documents

Appendix 1 — Plan attached to the application

Appendix 2 — Photographs of site taken by Chris Wilkinson, 4 November 2010
Appendix 3 — Guide to Town and Village Green law

Appendix 4 — A plan to shown the boundaries of the locality

Appendix 5 — A graph to show the facilities within the locality

Appendix 6 — A graph to show the activities enjoyed on the application land

Appendix 7 — Application
Appendix 8 — Response of objector Mr S. Hall
Appendix 9 — Response of applicant to the objector's submission

Page 40 Page 8
38



Bibliography

J. Riddall, ‘Getting Greens Registered: A guide to law and procedure for town and village greens’ (The
Open Spaces Society, 2007)

Table of Cases

R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloustershire District Councif [2003] EWHC 2803

New Windsor Corporation v Melfor [1975] 1 Ch 380

Oxfordshire County Council v Oxford City Council and another [2006] UKHL 25

Trustees of the British Museum v Finnis (1833) 5 C & P 460

R v Oxfordshire County Council and Another, Ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 A.C. 335

R (on the application of Lewis) (Appellant) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and Another
[2010] UKSC 11

R (Beresford) v City of Sunderfand [2003] UKHL 60

R (Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
[2007] UKHL 28

Table of Statutes

Commons Act 1876

Inclosure Act 1857

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Commons Act 2006

Other material
European Convention on Human Rights

Page 41
939 Page 9



Page 42
40



Agenda Iltem 5

Agenda item
Committee: Commons & Village Green Registration Panel
Date: 25 May 2011
By: Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services
Title: Application for land at Fern Road, St Leonards on Sea to be registered as a town or
village green
Purpose: To consider the application

Recommendation

To accept the application pursuant to section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 of Mr K Milchem
to have land at Fern Road, St Leonards on Sea registered as a town or village green.

The Site

1. As shown in Plan 1 below the land comprises two plots of land. Land to the north of 14 Fern
Road (‘east side’) and Land to the North of 31 Fern Road (‘west side’). Fern Road itself runs
north to south through the two plots. The land on both sides slopes steeply from east to west
with the higher ground to the east. There is a watercourse and wooded area which runs parallel
with the boundary of the western land. Public footpaths Hastings 63 and 64 run diagonally
across both sides of the land (Hastings 64 on the east side and Hastings 63 on the west) which
links Marlborough Close (east) and Hollington Stream (west). As shown by the lines numbered
on Plan 2 below.

"\

Plan 1 Plan 2

2. Ownership of the land is split into 4 separate plots. The east side is owned by Steamside
Properties Limited (ESX302616), Omar Al Hasso (ESX319436) and Hastings Borough Council
(HT1182). The west side is owned by Witrose Developments Limited (ESX304041) and
Hastings Borough Council (HT1182).

Page 43 Page 1
41



3. In May 2009 the Applicant informed East Sussex County Council (“the Council”) that the site
had been enclosed with a fence. It was not confirmed who installed the fence. Since 2009,
access to the site has been over the public footpaths only.

The Law

4. The Application was made pursuant to the Commons Act 2006. That Act requires each
registration authority to maintain a register of town and village greens within its area. Section 15
provides for the registration of land as a town or village green where the relevant statutory
criteria are established in relation to such land.

5. The Application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of Section 15 of the
2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a town or village green where:-

(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood
within a locality, indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for a
period of at least 20 years;

(b) they ceased to do so before the commencement of this section; and

(c) the application is made within the period of five years beginning with the
cessation referred to in paragraph (b).

6. The application is subject to subsection (6) which provides that in the determination of the
relevant 20 year period, any period during which access to the land was prohibited to members
of the public by reason of any enactment must be disregarded.

7. Therefore, for the Application to succeed, it must be established that:-

0] the Application Land comprises “land” within the meaning of the 2006 Act;

(i) the Land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes;

(iii) such use has been for a period of not less than 20 years;

(iv) such use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a locality or of a
neighbourhood within a locality;

(v) such use has been as of right;

The Burden and Standard of Proof

8. The burden of proving that the Land has become a town or village green rests with the Applicant
for registration. The standard of proof is the balance of probabilities.

9. Further, when considering whether or not the Applicant has discharged the evidential burden of
proving that the Land has become a town or village green, it is important to have regard to the
guidance given by Lord Bingham in R. v Sunderland City Council ex parte Beresford® where, at
paragraph 2, he noted as follows:-

As Pill LJ. rightly pointed out in R v Suffolk County Council ex parte Steed (1996)
75 P&CR 102, 111 “it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in
public or private ownership, registered as a town green ...”. It is accordingly
necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be met before land is
registered, and decision makers must consider carefully whether the land in
guestion has been used by inhabitants of a locality for indulgence in what are
properly to be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and whether the temporal
limit of 20 years’ indulgence or more is met.

10. Hence, all the elements required to establish that land has become a town or village green must
be properly and strictly proved by an applicant on a balance of probabilities.

112004] 1 AC 889.
Page 44 Page 2

42



Statutory Criteria

11. Caselaw has provided helpful rulings and guidance on the various elements of the statutory
criteria required to be established for land to be registered as a town or village green which |
shall refer to in turn below.

Land

12. Any land that is registered as a village green must be clearly defined so that it is clear what area
of land is subject to the rights that flow from village green registration.

13. However, it was stated by way of obiter dictum by the majority of the House of Lords in
Oxfordshire County Council v. Oxford City Council? that there is no requirement that a piece of
land must have any particular characteristics consistent with the concept of a village green in
order to be registered. In that case, the Trap Grounds application site did not fit the traditional
image of a village green. Part of it comprised reed beds and a significant part of the remainder
consisted of scrubland. It was thus “not idyllic” in the words of Lord Hoffmann. The majority
view given by Lord Hoffmann was that the physical characteristics of land could not in
themselves preclude it from being a village green. In justifying that view, he noted in particular
that there was no authority, either at common law or in statute, which supported the proposition
that the definition of a village green should be so restricted, and further, that any test to that
effect would be inherently uncertain and too vague.® It is also relevant to note that the
Commons Act 2006 passed subsequently did not seek to further restrict the definition of a
village green in that regard.

14. An alternative minority view was expressed by Lord Scott who noted that some new village
greens registered did appear to be stretching the concept of a village green beyond the limits
which Parliament intended. He noted the ordinary dictionary meaning of a “green” as being “a
piece of public or common grassy land” which ought to be applied in constructing section 22(1)
of the Commons Registration Act 1965, the predecessor to Section 15 of the 2006 Act, rather
than land being registered that no one would recognise as a town or village green.*

Lawful Sports and Pastimes

15. It was made clear in R. v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council® that
“lawful sports and pastimes” is a composite expression and so it is sufficient for a use to be
either a lawful sport or a lawful pastime. Moreover, it includes present day sports and pastimes
and the activities can be informal in nature. Hence, it includes recreational walking, with or
without dogs, and children’s play.

16. However, that element does not include walking of such a character as would give rise to a
presumption of dedication as a public right of way.®

Continuity and Sufficiency of Use over 20 Year Period

17. The qualifying use for lawful sports and pastimes must be continuous throughout the relevant 20
year period: Hollins v. Verney’.

18. Further, the use has to be of such a nature and frequency as to show the landowner that a right
is being asserted and it must be more than sporadic intrusion onto the land. It must give the
landowner the appearance that rights of a continuous nature are being asserted. The
fundamental issue is to assess how the matters would have appeared to the landowner: R. (on
the application of Lewis) v. Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council .2

2 [2006] 2 AC 674 per Lord Hoffmann at paragraphs 37 to 39.
% Ibid at paragraph 39.
* See paragraphs 71 to 83.
®[2000] 1 AC 335 at 356F to 357E.
® See Sullivan J. in R. (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire County Council [2004] 1 P & CR 573 at 598.
7 (1884) 13 QBD 304.
8 [2010] UKSC 11 at paragraph 36.
Page 45 Page 3

43



Locality or Neighbourhood within a Locality

19. A “locality” must be a division of the County known to the law, such as a borough, parish or
manor: MoD v Wiltshire CC;° R. (on the application of Cheltenham Builders Limited) v. South
Gloucestershire DC;*® and R. (Laing Homes Limited) v. Buckinghamshire CC.** A locality
cannot be created simply by drawing a line on a plan: Cheltenham Builders case.?

20. In contrast, a “neighbourhood” need not be a recognised administrative unit. A housing estate
can be a neighbourhood: R. (McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council.®®* However, a
neighbourhood cannot be any area drawn on a map. Instead, it must have a sufficient degree of
cohesiveness: Cheltenham Builders case.™

Significant Number

21. “Significant” does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that the number of
people using the land in question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land
signifies that it is in general used by the local community for informal recreation, rather than
occasional use by individuals as trespassers: R. (McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council.*®

As of Right

22. Use of land “as of right” is a use without force, without secrecy and without permission, namely
nec vi nec clam nec precario. It was made clear in R. v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte
Sunningwell Parish Council*® that the issue does not turn on the subjective intention,
knowledge or belief of users of the land.

23. “Permission” can be expressly given or be implied from the landowner’s conduct, but it cannot
be implied from the mere inaction or acts of encouragement of the landowner: R. v. Sunderland
City Council ex parte Beresford.*’

The Application

24. The Council received the application on 23 January 2009. The application was made pursuant
to Section 15(1) of Commons Act 2006 by Mr K Milchem.

Consultations and Representations

25. The application was advertised on site and in the Hastings Observer on 20 February 2009.
Every landowner was sent copies of the notice, and copies were available to view by members
of the public at County Hall, Lewes and Hastings Borough Council offices in Hastings. The Local
Member, Councillor Waite was informed of the application by way of letter dated 18 February
20009.

The merits of the Application

26. The Applicant asserts that the land has become a village green on the basis that the land had
been used by a significant number of the local inhabitants for lawful sports and pastimes as of
right for not less than 20 years, and that this use had been continuous up to the date of the
application.

9 [1995] 4 All ER 931 at page 937b-e.
1912003] EWHC 2803 (Admin) at paragraphs 72 to 84.
112004] 1 P & CR 573 at paragraph 133.
12 At paragraphs 41 to 48.
13 2002] EWHC 76 (Admin).
14 At paragraph 85.
15 2002] EWHC 76 (Admin) at 77.
18 2000] 1 AC 335.
7 [2004] 1 AC 889.
Page 46 Page 4

44



27. The application was supported by 342 user evidence forms. The forms were separated by the
Council into forms for the west side and forms for the east side. 173 forms were received
relating to the west side of the land and 169 forms were received in relation to the east side of
the land. Some of those completing an evidence form completed one for the east side and one
for the west side.

Landowner Objection

28. On 2 May 2009 an objection to the application was received from Town and Country Planning
Solutions on behalf of Witrose Development Ltd, Streamside Properties Ltd and Mr Omar Al
Hasso (“the Objectors”). In summary the Objectors asserted that the land failed to meet the
statutory criteria for the following reasons:

The Applicant had failed to demonstrate significant use throughout the twenty year period;
The Applicant had failed to identify a locality or neighbourhood within a locality;

Use of the land had not been for lawful sports and pastimes;

The topography of the site prevented many of the activities mentioned in the supporting
evidence from taking place

Use of the land had been limited to specific routes across the land; and

Use of the land had not been ‘as of right’ for at least twenty years

el

oo

Additional Applicant evidence

29. On 14 May 2009 the Applicant responded to the objection addressing each point in turn. The
Applicant also provided further evidence in the form of sixty-nine letters of support/letters
detailing use of the land, fifty-two statutory declarations together with photographs of the site
showing the ‘pathways’ across the land and members of the public tobogganing in the snow
from February 2009.

30. It is noted that the tobogganing in the February 2009 show is evidence of use that post dates
the application.

31. In a letter dated 20 July 2009 the Applicant provided further photographs of the footpaths across
the green and clarified the neighbourhood to be within the locality of the Maze Hill Ward of
Hastings Borough Council. This neighbourhood is wholly within the area covered by the
Wishing Tree Residents’ Association.

Response by Objectors

32.In response to this new information in July 2009 the Objectors submitted a “Response
Statement” which set out their position. In summary :-

1. Fresh evidence had been presented when all evidence should have accompanied the
application.

2. There is no specified locality or neighbourhood.

3. Land was not being enjoyed in the way claimed during the relevant time.

4. Works on the land prevented public access.

33. A further submission was made by the Objectors on 5 November 2009. This principally
addressed the role of Hastings Borough Council in maintaining the land. The Objectors
submitted the comments of Lord Scott, made obiter dicta in the case of Beresford'®, to support
their position. Lord Scott was of the opinion;

18 R v City of Sunderland ex parte Beresford [2003] UKHL 60
Page 47 Page 5
45



[that] where land is held by a principal council on either an express or implied trust
for public purposes... or appropriated for such purposes under the Local
Government Act 1972, then that will trump any registration for a village green.*®

Applicant’s final submission

34. A final submission was received from the Applicant on 29 November 2009 in which he
responded to a number of points raised by the Objectors and submitted further pictures of the
footpaths across the land and an aerial view taken from Google. This submission re-iterated
that no one was made to give evidence under duress and also compares the attached
photographs with previously submitted ones.

Consideration given to submissions made by Applicant and Objectors

35. At paragraph 8.1 of the Objectors’ July submission, the Objectors are of the opinion that much
of the Applicant’s evidence was produced in response to the original objection rather than with
the application itself. The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim
Arrangements)(England) Regulations 2007 state that;

An application must... be accompanied by, or by a copy or sufficient abstract of,
every document relating to the matter which the applicant has in his possession or
under his control, or to which he has a right to production.?

36. The regulations make further provisions at 3(2)(d) that the application;

[must] be supported by such evidence as, at any time before finally disposing of
the application, the registration may reasonably require.

37. Accordingly, the regulations have some latitude as to when evidence may be submitted,
although not specifically requested by the County Council. Therefore, the Council shall consider
all information submitted.

38. Copies of all submissions and evidence can be found in the background papers in the Members
Room.

Date to consider twenty year period

39. This application has been made under Section 15(2). Section 15(2) states that land can be
registered as a town or village green if a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the
land for a period of not less than 20 years and they continue to do so at the time of the
application. The application was submitted on 23 January 2009 and as such, the relevant twenty
year period to which the evidence must be tested is between 23 January 1989 and 23 January
2009.

Application of s.15(2)

40. As noted at paragraphs eleven to twenty-three the statutory criteria that must be satisfied are
that the Applicant must prove that the land has been used by a significant number of local
inhabitants of a locality or neighbourhood within a locality for lawful sports and pastimes ‘as of
right’ for a period of twenty years. Accordingly, each element shall be addressed in turn.

19 |pa:
Ibid
2 Regulation 3(2) The Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim Arrangements)(England) Regulations
2007
L |bid at Regulation 3(2)(d)
Page 48 Page 6

46



Significant number of local inhabitants of any locality or neighbourhood within a locality

Significant number

41. The use of the land must be by a ‘significant number’ of the local inhabitants. What is classed
as significant is to be determined on a case-by-case basis and was considered in the case of
McAlpine Homes?. In that case, Sullivan J stated that the term ‘significant’ did not necessarily
mean considerable or substantive but that the number of users was sufficient enough to indicate
that their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local community for informal
recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers.

42. The Applicant submitted a large amount of evidence in support of the application.
Questionnaires were submitted for both sides of the road. 173 for the west side of Fern Road
and 169 for the east side of Fern Road. Further evidence was submitted in the form of 52
statutory declarations and 67 letters from residents supporting the application and confirming
their use of the land.

43. The Objectors have produced evidence in the form of photographs taken of the land at hourly
intervals during the period 2 March to 13 April 2010. The Objectors state that the only people to
be seen in any of the photographs are those using the road or the footpath and attempts to
illustrate that the land is not in general use by the local community. This evidence however
postdates the application.

Locality or neighbourhood within a locality

44. The land must be used by the inhabitants of a locality, or of any neighbourhood within a locality.
This is a fluid concept; a locality would be, for example, a parish or other administrative area
known to the law, although it does not necessarily have to be?®. A neighbourhood is a smaller

area but has been identified by case law as having ‘a sufficient degree of cohesiveness’®*.

45. The application stated that the land served “parts of the Maze Hill and Wishing Tree areas of St
Leonards on Sea.” This was marked by the Applicant on an attached and exhibited plan. It is
important to note that case law has determined that merely drawing a line on a map does not
satisfy the test of defining a locality or neighbourhood within a locality. The Applicant was asked
to clarify this point further and responded by letter dated 20 July 2009 stating;

The locality of the neighbourhood is in the Maze Hill Ward of the Hastings
Borough Council. The neighbourhood lies wholly within this area covered by the
Wishing Tree Residents [Association].

46. No plan of the Wishing Tree Residents’ Association has been provided, and the neighbourhood
as defined does not lie wholly within the Maze Hill ward.

47. The Objectors have provided an analysis of the addresses of those completing user evidence
forms at paragraph 3.15 of their first objection. They state that “A number of these roads
[addresses] are outside the Applicant’s claimed catchment area.” The Objectors lists fourteen
roads in which those completing user evidence forms reside. Of these fourteen, six are outside
of the catchment area. However, it is noted that thirty-five user evidence forms came from the
six roads outside of the catchment area. The other one hundred and eleven were from
addresses within the Maze Hill ward.

48. It is submitted that the Applicant has sufficiently illustrated that a significant number of residents
of the locality have had access to the land.

22 R (Alfred McAlpine Homes) v Staffordshire County Council [2002]

% | eeds Group Plc v Leeds City Council [2010] EWHC 810 (Ch)

R (Cheltenham Builders Ltd) v South Gloucestershire District Council [2003] Justice Sullivan stated that a
neighbourhood required a ‘sufficiently cohesive entity which is ca@able of definition’.

Page 4
47

Page 7



In lawful sports and pastimes

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

The Applicant must also demonstrate that the land has been used for lawful sports and
pastimes. According to Lord Hoffmann this, ‘is not two classes of activities but a single
composite class’® in order to cover all lawful activities enjoyed on the land, including the taking
of air. These activities can vary depending on the time of year or ‘according to changing tastes
or wishes [of the user]'?.

Most of the evidence submitted was of participating or observing activities consistent with use
as a village green. The following activities were engaged in by the residents who enjoyed using
the eastern part and the western part respectively; dog walking (104, 112), berry picking (123,
120), tobogganing (83, 85), playing games (88, 94) and nature observation (113, 119), all of
which, fall within the criteria of lawful sports and pastimes. Graphs containing this information
for both the eastern and western side is contained at Appendix 3.

The Objectors have queried many of the lawful sports and pastimes in terms of whether they
gualify as sports and pastimes and whether they would be capable of being undertaken on the
land, in particular formal games of football and cricket. As noted in paragraph 49 all lawful
activities qualify as sports and pastimes, including formal games of football and cricket.?’

The Objectors have also queried the lack of photographic evidence of any of the activities that it
is claimed have taken place on the land. The Applicant countered this in his ‘Response’ by
stating;

Photographic evidence of use was not sought or submitted as photographs can be
used to show more or less anything. It is unlikely that anyone would take
photographs of day to day activities such as dog walking, seasonal blackberry
picking and ad hoc games and activities carried out by families.

As previously illustrated, at paragraph 43, the photographs submitted by the Objectors postdate
the application.

Footpaths across the claimed land

54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

The Applicant has provided evidence and details of a number of trodden paths that have been
created over the application land. Evaluation of aerial photographs of the land together with
photographs submitted by the Applicant and Objectors confirm this. It is clear from the evidence
that three specific routes have been used by members of the public; one from the top of the
public footpath on the eastern land diagonally across the land towards the corner at 14 Fern
Road and two others which loosely follow the perimeters of the western and eastern land, as
detailed in the map provided with the Applicant’s second submission.

It is noted that there are two recognised public footpaths across the application land, public
footpaths Hastings 63 and 64.

Use of the land along a footpath, along a specific route, could suggest that it was not possible
that users were enjoying the application land in its entirety for lawful sports and pastimes.

The High Court decision in Laing Homes?® provides guidance on the competing interests of
footpaths, in which a right is enjoyed along a specific strip, and village greens, in which
enjoyment is across the width and breadth of the land.

Sullivan J notes that the two rights are not mutually exclusive, in that a right of way may exist to
facilitate access to a specific area of the green. However, Sullivan J does recognise that to the
landowner the difference may be very important.

% R v Oxfordshire County Council and others, ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335

% 3. Riddall, ‘Getting Greens Registered: A guide to law and procedure for town and village greens’ (2007) paragraph 43
" Fitch v Rawling (1795) 2 Hy B1 393; Virgo v Harford (1893) The Times 30 March 1893

BR (on the application of Laing Homes) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin)

Page 5 Page 8

48



He may be content that local inhabitants should cross his land along a defined
route, around the edge of his fields, but would vigorously resist if it appeared to
him that a right to roam across the whole of his fields was being asserted.?

59. It is of note that some of the activities would not be able to be confined to footpaths, particularly
the playing of football and cricket and the use of toboggans. Sullivan J notes in Laing Homes
that;

Some of the other activities such as blackberrying would have taken place on or
near the boundaries, rather than across the fields as a whole.*°

60. In Laing Homes the use of the field near the boundaries illustrated that some of the sports and
pastimes enjoyed occurred from a footpath. Accordingly, in this instance blackberrying would
have taken place on the boundaries but tobogganing and the playing of games would have
encompassed the land as a whole. It is therefore submitted that the test of using the land for
lawful sports and pastimes has been satisfied.

For a period of twenty years

61. As stated in paragraph 20, the relevant twenty year period is 1989 to 2009. It must be shown
that within this period use has been continuous and regular.

62. Of the 138 people who have claimed use of the west side, 54 have used the land for a period of
at least twenty years. Of the 132 people who have claimed use of the east side, 50 people have
used the land for a period of at least twenty years. The remaining user evidence forms
recorded use from as little as less than a year to eighteen years.

63. This is sufficient use to show the land has been enjoyed throughout the relevant period.

Have indulged as of right

64. Once the evidence has been assessed to establish if the land has been enjoyed by local
inhabitants for lawful sports and pastimes for a minimum period of twenty years it must be
asserted that they have enjoyed the land as of right. As of right has received legal endorsement
from Lord Hoffmann, who was of the opinion that it should be construed to mean, ‘not by force,
nor stealth, nor the licence of the owner.”®® It has taken this meaning because it is not
reasonable for the owner to resist actions of user because;

Rights should not be acquired by the use of force, in the second, because the
owner would not have known of the user and in the third, because he had
consented to the user®

65. The decision of the Supreme Court in Redcar®® further clarified the law with Lord Brown being of
the opinion that there is ‘no good reason to superimpose upon the conventional tripartite test’>*
for the registration of land as a town or village green. Accordingly, each arm of the test shall be
identified and analysed individually. For use to be as of right each part must be satisfied.

Not by force

66. Access to the land is freely sought from the road that intersects the two parts and also from the
termini of the various footpaths on the boundary. Accordingly, use has not been by force.

2 pid at para. 108
%9 |pid at para. 105
%1 1bid (n8)
% Ibid (n8)
BR (on the application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council and another [2010] UKSC 11
% bid at para. 107
Page 51 Page 9

49



Not by stealth

67.

68.

69.

70.

None of the user evidence forms suggest that they have used the land under a veil of secrecy.

The Objectors submitted the case of Redcar® in the Court of Appeal in which Lord Justice
Dyson was of the opinion that;

[the] user is such as to give the outward appearance to the reasonable landowner
that the use is being asserted and claimed as of right.*

The Objectors also cited the opinion of Lord Hoffman in Sunningwell in which he states that
when ‘use is so trivial and sporadic [it will] not... carry the outward appearance of user as of
right.”®’

As noted previously (paragraph 65) the Supreme Court have clarified the law on the meaning of
as of right. Their Lordships were of the opinion that the tripartite test was sufficient and nothing
should be superimposed onto this. Accordingly, how it would appear to the Landowner is not a
factor that is taken into consideration when demonstrating if use has been of right. Accordingly,
use has not been by stealth.

Not with permission

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

The granting of permission requires some positive act by the landowner because;

...it would be quite wrong... to treat a landowner’s silent passive acquiescence in
persons using his land as having the same effect as permission communication to
those persons. To do so would be to reward inactivity.®

This is upon application of established common law principles initially suggested by Patteson J
in 1833;

If a man opens his land, so that the public pass over it continually, the public...
would be entitled to pass over it... and if the party does not mean to dedicate it...
but only to give a licence, he should do some act to show that he gives a licence
only.*

Accordingly, the challenge on the part of the landowner must be an obvious and overt act.
Recently, in the case of Godmanchester® Lord Scott was of the opinion that overt acts should,
‘demonstrate to the public that the landowner had no intention to dedicate.”*

Upon consideration of the user evidence and the response by the Objectors there would appear
to be no obvious and overt act to demonstrate that the landowner had no intention to dedicate.
Accordingly, use has not been with permission.

Upon consideration of the evidence it has been established that use has not been by force, or
by stealth, or with permission. Accordingly, on the balance of probabilities, it can be said that
the users have indulged in the land as of right.

22 R (on the Application of Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (2009) EWCA Civ 3
Ibid
" |bid (n8) at 357
% bid (n1) at para. 78
% Trustees of the British Museum v Finnis (1833) 5 C & P 460 at 465
R (Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs [2007] UKHL 28
! Ibid at para.69

Page 52 Page 10
50



Considerations into the feasibility of holding a Public Inquiry

76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

The Authority retains discretion as to whether to hold an Inquiry, and must give consideration as
to whether or not one should be held. An Inquiry would be conducted by an independent
Inspector or expert and would enable members of the public to put their view across in
adversarial proceedings. The Inspector or expert would make recommendations and it would
then be for the Authority to decide whether or not to accept any or all of those
recommendations.

Those in favour or against the application have had the opportunity to submit their
representations and these have been made available to the Panel, in full, for Members to read
in the usual way and have been analysed in this report.

There have been extensive opportunities for people to make representations with several
submissions and responses being made by both the Applicant and Objectors.

The cost implications and the further delay which would be introduced into the process in
holding a public inquiry would also be considerable. It is submitted that a public inquiry would
not be necessary or in the publics interest with this Committee being able to provide an
objective and impartial view of all the evidence submitted. It is also noted that the applicant
does not wish to subject the application to an inquiry for similar reasons noted by the Council.

The Committee is permitted to use its discretion when determining what course of action to
follow. It can accept the officer recommendation put forward. It can adjourn the matter and
seek further information. As set out above, the Panel can request that a public inquiry be held.

Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendation

81.

After careful consideration of all the evidence submitted to the Council it is submitted that, on
the balance of probabilities, there is sufficient evidence to show that the local residents of Fern
Road, within the Maze Hill Ward of Hastings, have indulged in lawful sports and past times, as
of right, for a period of twenty years and they continued to do so at the time of the application.
Accordingly, section 15(2) of the Commons Act has been satisfied.

Recommendation

82.

Upon consideration of this report it is suggested that the application to register Fern Road as a
town or village green be accepted and the file of Common Land held at the registration authority
be amended accordingly.

Philip Baker Contact Officer: Chris Wilkinson
Assistant Director Senior Solicitor: Joanna Hauge (Mrs)
Legal and Demacratic Services

Local Member: Councillor Joy Waite

Background Documents

Appendix 1 — Application and Plan
Appendix 2 — Photographs of application land
Appendix 3 — Graphs to show activities enjoyed on the east and west side

Page 53 Page 11
51



Page 54
52



A?P@\C\ﬂ P

Commons Act 2006: Section 15

FORM 44

Application for the registration of land as a Town or

Village Green

Official stamp of registration authority
indicating valid date of receipt:

o e et/ e e A BRI i MRS

SOMMOND REGIEFRATION AGT 1066
EAST SUSEEX BOUNTY 0BUNON
REQISTRATION AUTHEATTY

73 JAN 204

Application number: | |3 & 4

Reaqister unit No(s):

VG number allocated at registration:

(CRA to complete only if application is successful)

Applicants are advised to read the ‘Guidance Notes for the completion of an Application for the Registration of
land as a Town or Village Green’ and to note the following:

All applicants should complete questions 1-6 and 10-11.

Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addition, complete questions 7-8.
Section 15(1) enables any person to apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in section

15(2), (3) or (4) apply.

Applicants applying for voluntary registration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete guestion 9.

Note 1 To the

1. Registration Authority

Insert name of

| egal Services Depariment

"EQ'Z’SW ation Fast Sussex County Coungil
authority. County Hall, St Anne's Crescent
Lewes

Cast Sussex BN7 1SW

Page 55
53




oie 2

fere is maors than
e applicant, list all
mas. Please use a
sparale sheel ff
cessary. State the
il fitle of the
ganisation if a body
rporate or
incorporale.

juestion 3 is not
mpleted all
yrespandencs and
ifices will be sent to
= first named
aplicant.

‘ofe 3

his qguestion shoufd
e completed if a
slicitor is instructed
rthe purposes of the
yplication. If so all
wrespondence and
stices will be sent fo
@ person or firm
aned here.

2. Name and address of the applicant

Name: Keith Lawrence Milchem.

Full postal address:

14, Fermn Road,
St Leonards on Sea
Cast Sussex

Postcode

TN38 OUH

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialiing code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialing code)

E-mail address:

3. Name and address of solicitor, if any

01424 716270

<. milchem@btinternet.com

Name:

Firm: .

Full postal address: |

Post code

Telephone number:
(incl. national dialling code)

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address:

Page 56
54




Note 4

For further advice on

the criteria and

gualifying dates for

registration please see

section 4 of the
Guidancs Notes.

* Section 15(6)
enables any periad of
statutory closure
where access o the
land is denied to be
disregarded in
determining the 20
year period.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your land
piease fick this box and move to question 6.

Application made under sectiion 15(8):

if the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act, please tick one of
the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying
criterion applies to the case.

Section 15(2) applies: X Applying under section 15(2)

Section 15(3) applies

Section 15(4) applies:

If section 15(3) or (4) applies please indicate the date on which you consider
that use as of right ended.

If section 15(6)* applies please indicate the period of statutory closure (nf
any) which needs to be disregarded.

Page 57
55




ofe &

1e accompanying
ap must be at a

ale of at least
2,500 and show the
1d by distinctive
Youring fo enable to
‘0 be clearly
sntified.

Only complete if the
nd is already

gistered as common
nd.

lote 6

may be possible to
dicate the locality of
te green hy reference
) an administrative
ea, such as a parish
r efecioral ward, or
ther area sufficiently
ofined by name (such
15 a village or street).
fthis is not possible a
1ap should be
srovided on which a
cality or
eighbourhood is
1arked clearly.

5. Description and particulars of the area of land in respect of which
application for registration is made

Name by which usually known:

The area has no speéific name except the open land at the end of Fern Road.

Location:

Either side to the North of no’s 31 and 14 Fern Road, St Leonards on Sea,
East Sussex. TN38 OUH at approximately OS reference TQ 790 102m
Marked in Red on the map (A)

Shown in colour on the map which is marked and attached to the statutory
declaration. : s

Common land register unit number (if relevant) *

6. Locality or neighbourhood within a locality in respect of which the
application is made

Please show the locality or neighbourhood within the locality to which the

claimed green relates, either by writing the administrative area or
geographical area by name below, or by attaching a map on which the area is
clearly marked:

Please see map with location identified. The open amenity space serves parts|
of the Maze Hill and Wishing Tree areas of St. Leonards on Sea. This is the
only open, freely accessible piece of grassland left in this area. Marked in
green on the locality map (B) and satellite photograph of the area (C).

Tick here if map attached: X — map attached

Page 58
56




Nofe 7
Applicanis should
provide a sumimary of
the cass for
registration here and
encloss a separale fuli
statement and alf other
evidence including any
witness statements in
support of the
application.

This information is not
needad if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

7. Justification for application to register the land as a town or village
green

This area of land has been used by the local community in one way or
another for at least 45 years. There have never been any restrictions put
upon the use of the land. The local council have tended the area keeping the
grass cuf so as to provide an amenity area for residents. They have also not
cul some areas so as to provide a habitat for locally rare plants.

The area is used daily by walkers and those exercising animals. It is used by
local schoo! children as an area to let off steam on the way home. lt is
regularly used by families playing games with children. The brambles around
the area provide an annual source of free food and when it shows many
families can be seen tobogganing.

Occasionally the area is used by schools and language colleges as a meeting
place. It is also used for ad hoc games of cricket, rugby and football and when
windy, Kites are sometimes flown. It has been used for educational purposes.

|Wildlife uses the area as a corridor 1o the nearby woods. Badgers, foxes,

imoles, a wide variety of birds, numerous species of insects and a wide variety
of planis inhabit the area. Local residents take advantage of this diversity of
flora and fauna.

Our local survey has shown the high level of use by the residents in the area
cdesignated on the map. We have signed guestionnaires frem 132 local
residents showing how they have used this land. This survey was undertaken
during a very cold snap when dog walkers were still apparent but the other
activities more typical of more clement weather could not be withessed.

In short, this is a green, open, safe place where families and children can
play, relax, picnic and it provides a safe meeting place for groups. It's loss
would be to the detriment of the community, being the only piece of freely
accessible grassiand in the area.

Page 59
57




'oie 8
'ease Use a separaie
iest if necessary.

/here relevant include
ferance to fille
smbears in the register
“fitle held by the

and Regisiry.

no one hias bean
entified in this
sction you shouid
rite "none”

his information is not
sedad if a landownar
applying to register
12 fand as a green
nder section 15(8).

lote 9

ist afl such
gclarations that
iccomiparny the
spplication. If none is
equired, wiite "nong”,

his information is not
eedad if an
application is being
1acie to register the
nd as a green under
sction 15(1). ‘

lote 10

ist aif supporiing
ocumenis and maps
sccompanying the
application. If hone,
#ite “none”

Yease use a separate
heet if necessary.

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant believes to be
an owner, lessee, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
be a town or village green '

Park Lane Developmenis,
Park Lane House,
141-145 Bohemia Road,
St Leonards on Sea,

Fast Sussex

TN37 6RL

9. Voluntary registration — declarations of consent from ‘relevant
leaseholder’, and of the proprietor of any ‘relevant charge’ over the land

10. Supporiing documentation

Map of Boundary of Proposed Town Green.

Map of community served by the proposed Town Green.

Satellite photograph of community served by the proposed Town Green.
Supporting Statement.

Signed questionnaires from local residents and users of the amenity area.
This have been split between two areas of grassland on either side of Fern

Road to show the usage of both parcels of land. The usage is more or less
even between the two sides of the road.

Page 60
58




11. Any other information relating to the appiication

Note 11 - :

ffthere are any other ||| N @rea of land being proposed is owned by a developer who has applied to

matters which should  |build houses on the land. The land was purchased two years ago (approx)

be brought to the and there have been no restrictions placed on the land since it has changed

attention ofthe hands. In short, it was purchased when the Commons Act 2006 was in force

';ﬁ?ggﬁgggf#fomy or about to be made legislation.

person interested in

ihe land is expecied fo  ||A previous planning permission from 1965 was given a Certificate of

challenge the Lawfulness by the Hastings Borough Council in 2007 or 8.

application for :

ziﬁf;ﬁ;ga;;%%difg}.veﬁ When a new planning application was submitted, local residents expressed

here or on a separate  |[Neir objections. Residents were not aware of the Commons Act 2006 until a

sheet if necessary. chance conversation with a councilor. Once local residents became aware of
the potential to declare the open space a Town Green, there has been
growing support for the idea. Local residents do not wish to lose this area of
amenity land which has been used continuously and in an unrestricted
fashion for over 40 years.

Note 12

The application must Date: 21% January 2009

be signed by each

individual applicant, or

by the authorised Si :

officer of an applicant ignatures:

which Is a body 4 .

corporate or T 4

unincorporate. L

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all associated documentation.
Applicants should be aware that signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn
statement of truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence. The making
of a false statement for the purposes of this application may render the maker liable to

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be treafed as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the registration authority to disclose information received from
you fo others, which may include other local authorities, Government Depariments, public bodies,
other organisations and members of the public.

Page 61
59




A % s f s = i R T B T g A
/z"b'nnfl ¥ ﬁ{’, Efs_fsugg "Li?'{j;',_e,ﬂ.ma,_@f‘ [ j’ '{7'“4’;"?’1‘—"}{"{"1 ‘*i _ t‘{‘;'i ‘#’j‘i . ot ['__Ld_L'b\;ff oy 2 03
Beidonattysn il Ea il Midclers oo Thas Thvendse fact Sl o0 Joompony A4 Ehe ]

K v ; %

0ot poszeel VA oo nefered T B Applicatin. doctd 20 Jokey YovG Y
Wi (N S - 7 R Rt {,‘_::i_‘_‘/ H
/Aki// e | 7 s \‘“‘\\t:r:\f 7\ |

3 ; o i o, > .
A //\\\'1'-{%"‘ %"\_ff{,é_y h‘v ,45,\:,1’? " / / r‘? \7 (\\-71/——/_&_;_" s ﬁ‘?\L
V4 /?r\ztg@msy% DD J7 4 | / /) i /‘F\\

?s, : -
N /

O / / ﬂg/ﬂ

| \ / Woodlarjds

A y.

~_ /

e
Scale 1:1250

)
Map showing (highlighted red) the areas covered by the application for Town /
Village Green status at OS reference TQ 790 102 approx.

Prepared by: Carol Miichem

Page 62 1/13/2009
nn




http://maps.google.co .uk/maps?s0urceid=navclientgge:UTF- 8&hl=en-GB&rlz=1T4...

Freidas g

e
(Y Fark cm;b

Fou = Femnsids fve S
i pNR TR "L'Dt"luqim,u i
3 E'.-E ie3 g
& ] g
Iy [} g 3 y
(f e =N & |
¢ & 1
= = iy,
s = e
! 2, 3
12 2,
e Brap, }
iy L4
Y
=
o
2
o .
= T
F &
s
= = S
= an & Ly
B F & &
&= F & 2
= ) & 3 5
® z & ‘
5 ¢ }%7 -%A
% =
2 T
- Y o
et = i
& =
3 JE €
E & %
>l -
B oRIEE  T NG, RS = C‘%_ N S e A = e -

3

[

()

Map showing the locality or neighbourhood to whlc:h the Town [ Village
Green application relates.

—— Boundary of area

- Biingfisi mg

TN38 Ouh - Google Maps Pagelof 1
~ Address
Goc gl
ma;)s UK
| |
‘ & ‘,
& i

Chaten Erasegn

TG e L -

Sy,

o~

(G2
Y,

— Boundary of village green (approximate — see detailed 1:2500 map)

.
e

/ A
5 g P

Page 63 Sl d

20/01/2009



TN38 Ouh - Google Maps rage 1 uL 1

Address

Maps UK

%

Goc ,)glﬁ"

©
Satellite photograph showing the locality or neighbourhood to which the
Town / Village Green application relates.

—— Boundary of area

—— Boundary of village green (approximate — see detailed 1:2500 map)

Page 64
h‘ftp://maps.google.co.uk/maps?sourceid:navclient62::UTF—S&hl:en—GB&rlz:1T4... 20/01/2009



Supporting Statement for application to declare land to the North of Numbers
31 and 14 Fern Road, St. Leonards on Sea, East Sussex, TN38 OUH a Town
Green under Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2008.

The land referred to above is an open piece of grassland bordered by brambles,
bushes and trees. It is bisected by Fern Road in a broadly North / South direction
and by a public footpath which runs from roughly East to West. This area of land has
heen freely available to local residents to use as they please. The local Council have
tended the grass area and even put in drainage to prevent water run off onto the
road. When some of the land started to slip, they re-instated the top surface and
planted trees to try to stabilise the area.

A recent planning application has highlighted the feeling amongst local residents that
this is an area of land they do nof wish to see developed and lost from community
use. This is the last remaining piece of freely accessible grassland in the area shown
on the attached map. The saiellite picture of the same area clearly shows this fo be
the case. Only very recently were residenis made aware of the existence of the
Commons Act 2008 and the possibility that the area of land could be saved for the
continuing and perpetual use of the community. This mobilised a residenis group
keen to keep the grassed amenity area to fry to establish the feeling of their
community. This submission is based on the strength of feeling they enceuntered
whilst canvassing opinions from local residents and users of the land.

Copies of the questionnaires completed by residents of the area are enclosed with
the application form. We have conclusive proof that this area of land has been used
by local residents far up to 45 years without there ever being any restrictions in
place.

This area of land is well used by local residents. The most common and regular use
is by those with dogs. The area is, as said above, open grassland. It is safe to let
dogs off their leads fo run freely. The bramble surrounds prevent dogs entering local
houses or going too far from owners’ control. Whilst there is some woedland nearby,
this is not considered to be a safe place to walk dogs, especially on dark winter
nights and mornings. As there are street lights along Fern Road and part of the
public path crossing the land, the open grassed area is much safer fo use at night.

When the weather produces snow, the sloping ground is used for tobogganing by
families and groups of children. Snow men are often built and much fun is had by
groups having snow ball fights. Children returning home from school enjoy this area
of land, especially as it is a wide, open and safe place.

In the months where the weather is more clement, the area of land becomes used
more for other activities. Many students from the local secondary school play a
variety of games on the land on their way to and from school. It was not felt
appropriate to survey the students coming home from school to see where they
lived. However, local knowledge shows that many are from within the boundary
shown on the map, whilst others live further a field (but still within walking distance of
the area of land). Our survey of residents shows the wide variety of uses to which
this open area is put. Games are played by small groups of children, families have
been seen picnicking, games with footballs and rugby balls are played and even the
odd game of cricket takes place, despite the slope. Kites can sometimes be seen
flying when windy (a common occurrence in this valley). Recently the area has
become a meeting place for studenis attending language colleges. They can wait
safely for coaches and family cars to pick them up. In the evenings, many return {o
socialise on the green area.

Page 65
63



The land has been used for educational purposes with schoolchildren. The area of
land has indicator species typical of wet land and also supporis rarer plants such as
the Early Purple Orchid, the Common Spotted Orchid and Autumn Ladies Tresses.
When left uncut a broad range of grasses can also be found.

The natural feel to the area has also encourages local residents fo walk on it, sit and
enjoy the sun and look at some of the wild flowers that grow there.

The permanent loss of this amenity area will cause much anguish to the community

and we hope that you will look favourably upon this application for Town / Village
Green Status.

3 » / 27 iy ,- A
Keith Milchem S L et
19" January 2009

3 B S f’f
M/\/Tf/vu:’/uw‘u/f /"“? ¢ 7‘“’\war é)‘“"”‘“
i :

RGJJ/L z.v{ et

Page 66
64

[~



Statutory Declaration In Support

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicanis, or by his or
their solicitor, or, if the applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate,
by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the application.

1lnsert full name ) )

(and address if not I Keith Lawrence Milchemgglemnly and sincerely declare as follows:—
given in the

application form).

2Delele and adapi 1.2 | am the person who has signed the foregoing application.
as necessary.

3 Insert name if
Applicable

2. The facis set out in the application form are to the best of my
knowiedge and belief fully and truly stated and | am not aware of any
other fact which should be brought to the attention of the registration
authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matier other than those (if any) mentioned in
parts 10 and 11 of the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map
referred o in part 5 of the application.

4 Complete only in 4.*l hereby apply under section 15(8) of t ommons Act 2006
the case of register as a green the land indicated-6n the map and that isif my
voluntary ownership-Thave provided th owing necessary declarations of
registration (strike consent: . o

Ao
through i this is not o / |
relevant) (i} a declaratio ownership of the land;y”
//(.LM (ity a deckdration that all necessary.€onsents from the

relevanttéaseholder or proprietor of ey relevant charge over the
PieN landHave :

Cont/

Page 67
65




Coniinued N been received.and are exhibited with this « or
/,{,(: 1 (iify where110 such consents are required;a declaration to that effect.
- |
-

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the
same to be irue, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.

eclared by the said KE(TH LAwEECE
L £

rrrrr

S o s 7
li L’i .}.‘ } i (( ?} &UQ@-»’,»A f{ws’i_ =

Hostox T34 | RG Signature of Declarant
/

S M Vgt N M Ne eape ot Smao”

is [/mf Eﬂﬁ/ Prrel day of Ja~ses

-

Before me

ig nature: T/fl\{{y\, dnri"‘»— ‘Dgg”\/\xb;;:‘_.sf »-a';l

o

ddress:  Twnneldl « {)eh e
[olélf 4.3 ’[Qudlf::m /ﬁ%,—e_dj
'}"{(&‘f;’c t'JTj7

lification: I
luaiification S%ﬂuﬂ,i;a/

The statutory declaration must be macde before a justice of the peace, practising
olicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

iignature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
pplication and accompanying evidence.

EEMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Jease initial alf alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 68
66



ﬂ@m\:t Q..










o

2 S
e T
















hoprdi 2

SaRARDY

sjueld Bulfolue seweb Buikeld sylp|m Bulyoiem  Bullusgyoelg

puej

Buiuebbeqoy  Bop Buisiolexy

ayj JO opIS UIdISOM @Y) uo pakolug seAnRoy 9yl moys o3 ydeis y

Page 77
75

g Mkl



Page 78
76



RiApoy

44

Zsaleg |

siasn
Page 79

| puej sy}
JO 9pIs ulajsea ay} uo palolug saniAnoy ayj moys o3 ydels) y

- M q.ju,.&%_q\



Page 80
78



	Agenda
	4 Application for land at Herbrand Walk, Bexhill on Sea to be registered as a town or village green
	5 Application for land at Fern Road, St Leonards to be registered as a town or village green
	Fern Road report 08.04.11
	20110516145806217




